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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
IFRS, consolidated, audited

2002

2001

(HUF million) (HUF million)

2002

2001

(EUR
thousand)

(EUR
thousand)

135,124

155,131

572,802

629,769

443

6,933

1,878

28,145

Depreciation

8,111

8,593

34,383

34,884

Net Profit

1,819

8,693

7,711

35,290

20,132

6,971

85,341

28,299

Balance Sheet Total

134,274

137,644

569,199

558,779

Shareholders’ Equity

97,112

95,376

411,666

387,188

Share Capital

24,510

24,623

103,900

99,959

75

356

0.32

1.46

ROE – Return on Equity (%)

1.96

9.19

1.96

9.19

ROA – Return on Assets (%)

1.42

6.36

1.42

6.36

Sales
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Extraordinary Items
and Minority Interest (EBIT)

Investments

Major Ratios
EPS – Earnings per Share (HUF/share; EUR/share)

Closing Price of TVK Shares on the Budapest Stock Exchange (HUF; EUR)
- Highest

4,800

4,990

20.35

20.30

- Lowest

2,800

1,990

11.87

8.10

- On December 31

3,940

3,250

16.70

13.20

95,485

78,763

404.77

319.75

Capitalization (Closing Price on December 31, million)
Other Data
Average Headcount
Number of Shares
- Ordinary Shares
- Employee Shares
Number of Consolidated Companies

2002

2001

2,205

2,686

24,423,843

24,423,843

24,234,843

24,234,843

189,000

189,000

10

11

Remarks:
The EUR/HUF mid FX rate quoted by the National Bank of Hungary for December 29, 2001 was: 246.33
The EUR/HUF mid FX rate quoted by the National Bank of Hungary for December 31, 2002 was: 235.90
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Dear Shareholders,
TVK celebrated its 50th anniversary of incorporation in January 2003. TVK Rt. has become a dominant
producer of hostalen polyolefin in the region through continuous development. In the past fifty years.
2002 was one of the most unfavorable years for the petrochemical business in the past decade. Profitability
dropped as the margin diminished radically between the price of feedstock, which moved with in tandem
with rising crude oil prices, and that of polymer products, which suffered under the downward pressure of
2

recession.
Despite the poor demand for polymer, the company sold five percent more polyethylene and ten percent
more polypropylene. On top of the outstanding sales achievement, we continued to improve the traditionally
high level of capacity utilization of the various production units of TVK in 2002. Compared to 2001, the Company
recorded higher volumes of output and hence superior capacity utilization in each product segment.
Costs were kept under stringent control, and total operating costs were nine percent lower in 2002 than in
2001. Seeking to improve results and as a member of the MOL Group, we made an effort to explore synergies
and to utilize them.
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Letter from the Chairman

The approval and launch of the Petrochemical Development Project rank as last year’s most important event.
Once implemented, the program will expand the capacity of TVK to produce monomers and polymers, which
will help it retain its leading position in the Central European region in the long run and continue to strengthen
its market presence in the European Union. The volume of petrochemical feedstock obtainable from the MOL
Group will almost double, and BorsodChem will purchase most of the increased volume of ethylene made by
TVK to secure raw material for the new capacities that come on line at Kazincbarcika.
As envisaged in the corporate strategy, 29 subsidiaries have been divested in the past three years to complete
streamlining by selling non-core businesses. To help the Company focus its resources on the petrochemical field,
the outsourcing of ’non-core’ activities may continue.
We continued to improve our labor safety and fire protection statistics last year as the number of accidents
on the job dropped to about half and there was only a single fire, causing minimum damage, which is the best
result since TVK was established.
TVK completed the development of a uniform quality assurance system with the successful certification
under ISO 9001:2000 of its new, corporate level Quality Management System (QMS). The objective set in line
with the quality assurance policy of the Company calls for QMS, which is certified as a quality system for
‘producing and selling petrochemical feedstock, polyethylene and polypropylene’, to help deliver higher quality
service to our customers.
TVK was recognized by two important prizes in 2002: the ‘Business for Environment’ prize of the Hungarian
Business Leaders Forum and the prize for innovation by the Ministry of Education. These awards continue to
inspire TVK employees in their search for environmentally oriented production and innovative solutions.
In 2003, our most important responsibilities involve scheduled progress with the Petrochemical Development
Project as budgeted, ensuring that the funding requirements of the program are met and reaching higher levels
of efficiency at the Company.
After the difficult year in 2002, we have every right to trust that TVK will represent added value investment
for all of its shareholders through the improvement of the business environment, the commitment of its
employees and the successful completion of the Petrochemical Development Project.
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March 25, 2003

György Mosonyi
Chairman of the Board

TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MOSONYI György – Chairman
degree in chemical engineering
Group Chief Executive Officer, MOL Rt.

OLVASÓ Árpád – Deputy Chairman
degree in chemical engineering, MBA
Director, Management of Portfolio in Chemical Industry, MOL Rt.

DELCOMMUNE, Michel Marc
degree in chemical engineering, MBA, Belgian citizen
Group Chief Financial Officer, MOL Rt.

ÁLDOTT Zoltán
degree in economics
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Group Chief Strategic Officer, MOL Rt.

HORVÁTH Zoltán
degree in economics and engineering with legal specialization, investment analyst
Strategic and Business Development Consultant, MOL Rt.
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Corporate Governance

BÁCS Zalán
degree in chemical engineering, MBA
Director, Planning and Controlling, MOL Rt.

MOLNÁR József
degree in economics
Chief Executive Officer, TVK Rt.

FAIZ, Fred
certified auditor, UK citizen
Chairman, Privatisation Strategy Consultants

HUDSON, Mark William
degree in economics, UK citizen
Independent Consultant
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

Corporate Governance

SUPERVISORY BOARD

BÁNHEGYI Ilona, LL. M. – Chairman of the Supervisory Board
lawyer
Chief Legal Counsel, MOL Rt.

STEWART-ROBERTS, Daniel
degree in humanities, certified auditor, UK citizen
Director, Corporate Finance, Paladin Resources plc

DR. BÁNHEGYI Ferenc
degree in economics
Director of Magyar Külkereskedelmi Bank Rt., Miskolc Agency

Employee Representatives

MAGYAR Tamás – Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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degree in electrical engineering
Service Technologist, Energy Supply Unit, TVK Rt.

KEMÉNYNÉ ÚJVÁRI Ildikó
degree in chemical engineering
Head of Group, Polymer Business Unit, TVK Rt.
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Corporate Governance

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

First Row (left to right)
SZÉLL Gábor Deputy CEO, CFO
MOLNÁR József Chief Executive Officer
NAGY András Deputy CEO, Polymer Marketing and Sales
Second Row (left to right)
SEBESTYÉN László Director, Olefin Business Unit
KOSZTOLÁNYI Ágnes Director, Human Resources
KOVÁCS Attila General Director
GALBA Béla Director, Technical and Services Units
DEÁK Árpád Director, Petrochemical Project Coordination
CSERNYIK István Director, Polymer Business Unit
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

THE TVK SHARE 1
With par value at HUF 1,010, TVK shares ranked third in
terms of value performance amongst the equities traded
on the Budapest Stock Exchange in 2002.

The Hungarian market showed moderate increase in HUF terms and spectacular rise when calculated in US
dollars. 2002 was characterized by a gradual shift towards Central European securities markets and the BUX
index undoubtedly drew on the appreciation of the region.
8

Average daily turnover in the cash market of the Budapest Stock Exchange was HUF 14.7 billion in 2002,
which is almost 13.3% higher than a year earlier. The market of equities represented 82% of the cash market
of the BSE; whilst the turnover of shares (HUF 3,027 billion) topped the previous year by 9%. Higher levels of
turnover were recorded for government bonds and treasury bills as well and the market of mortgage bonds
was especially active. The total capitalization of the BSE rose by 21%, with the capitalization in shares climbing
by only 3.4%.

1

The source of figures in this chapter: Year 2001 and 2002 Annual Reports of the Budapest Stock Exchange.
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The TVK Share

BUX, the official stock index of the Budapest Stock Exchange (BSE) grew 9.4% on the closing value of the
previous year. This is an excellent achievement in comparison to the performance of other markets globally and
ranks the BSE equity market number four in yield terms internationally which is owing to the improved opinion
about the region of Central and Eastern Europe, to the good performance of Hungarian companies and to the
stable macroeconomic environment. The index hovered between 6,500-8,900 points as the year moved on and
the fluctuations were mostly motivated by international sentiment, the achievements of Hungarian companies
and the two rounds of general elections. Early on in the year, the BUX responded to the favorable treatment of
the Hungarian market and the upcoming elections by a rising trend until the early days of May when it reached
its annual maximum at 8948.87 points. Thereafter the index value receded gradually to hit the minimum at
6589.76 points on July 24. Following the rise in August, the index subsided to the pessimism of international
markets only to embark on a modest rise (of 10%) in early October, which lasted until the end of the year.
In 2002 the BSE launched its new communications system (ICS) to offer rapid and accurate information to
investors. Since May 8, 2002, TVK has been publishing its regular and extraordinary disclosures at the BSE website (www.bet.hu) via the ICS.
The market price of the TVK share increased by a total of 21% in 2002 to close at HUF 3,940 on December
31, 2002 as compared to its opening value at HUF 3,250 on January 1. However, the market price of the paper
showed great volatility in the year, with the two extreme values at HUF 2,800 on March 19 and the high value
of HUF 4,800 on September 16. The price of the share stagnated until mid March, or rather reduced slightly
fluctuating between HUF 2,600 and HUF 3,300. Following the annual low, the market price of the paper revealed
an increasing trend with minor hiccups in the second quarter, which continued until the early days of Q4.
In 2002 the liquidity of the TVK share dropped slightly from the year before. The annual turnover came to HUF
20.9 billion which corresponds to 90% of the turnover of the previous year (HUF 23.3 billion). In volume terms
those also slight decrease from 3.2 million shares turned over in 2001 to 2.7 million traded in 2002. Average daily
turnover dropped from HUF 95.1 million to HUF 83.6 million. In terms of capitalization the TVK share continues
to rank as number six amongst the shares traded on the BSE with its value rising from HUF 78,763 million to
HUF 95,485 million.
The TVK Share on the Budapest Stock Exchange
2002

2001

24,423,843

24,423,843

Highest (HUF)

4,800

4,990

Lowest (HUF)

2,800

1,990

On December 31 (HUF)

3,940

3,250

Capitalization (HUF million) (on December 31)

95,485

78,763

Annual turnover (HUF million)

20,901

23,300

84

95

Number of shares (on December 31)
Closing price of TVK share on the Budapest Stock Exchange

Average intra-year daily turnover (HUF million)
Projected P/E at year end

2

2

Calculated from consolidated IFRS figures.

10.9

9.1
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
There were no major changes in the structure of ownership of the company in 2002. Holding a stake of around
60%, Hungarian institutional investors dominated throughout the year, complemented by foreign institutional
investors with holdings between 26-36%.
Ownership Structure according to the Share Register
Stake on December 31, 2002 (%)

Stake on December 31, 2001 (%)

Shareholder

Shareholder

Domestic institutional investors

58.6

Domestic institutional investors

60.3

Foreign institutional investors

26.2

Foreign institutional investors

32.7

Domestic retail

0.2

Domestic retail

0.3

Foreign retail

0.0

Foreign retail

0.0

0.1

Employee shares

0.6

Not registered shareholders

6.1

Employee shares
Not registered shareholders
TOTAL

14.9
100.0

TOTAL

100.0

The shareholders holding in excess of 5% remained unchanged and their stakes modified only slightly. The
interest of MOL Rt., the largest shareholder of TVK, moved from 33.03% to 34.48% in the first quarter. MOL had
made a successful bid to purchase the shares of the company in 2001 and increased its holdings as a result by
1.45%; and the transaction was recorded in the share register in February, 2002.
10

Shareholders with more than 5% Stake (as shown in the Share Register on December 31, 2002)
Shareholder

Stake (%)

MOL Hungarian Oil and Gas Company plc.

34.48

CE Oil & Gas Beteiligung und Verwaltung AG

15.99

BorsodChem Rt.

15.40

Matura Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

9.83

Hungarian Foreign Trade Bank Ltd.

8.02

ANNUAL REPORT

Ownership Structure
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The stakes held by other important shareholders remained unchanged, with CE Oil & Gas Beteiligung und
Verwaltung AG holding 15.99%, BorsodChem Rt. claiming 15.40%, Matura Vermögensverwaltung GmbH and
Hungarian Foreign Trade Bank Ltd. having 9.83% and 8.02%, respectively.
The coupons attached to the physical shares printed in 1996 have run out, which is why the complete stock
of ordinary shares representing the nominal capital of the company was replaced on January 28, 2002. The
ordinary shares which had not been submitted for replacement were cancelled by a Board resolution dated
August 27, 2002.

TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

2002 : FOCUS ON STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
The approval and launch of the Petrochemical Development Project ranks as the most important corporate
event in 2002, as it opened a new chapter in the history of TVK, the leading petrochemical company of Central
Europe.
The Board of Directors of the company approved the package of strategic capital expenditure projects with
a total cost of EUR 430 million on March 26, 2002. By 2005, TVK Rt. will have implemented three major capacity
expansion programs as part of the development project. The capacity to produce ethylene will increase
substantially by setting up a new olefin plant, and the capacity of making high density polyethylene will be
doubled. The project also calls for the increase of polypropylene capacity, which was completed in 2002.
TVK’s Plants and the Petrochemical Development Project
Capacity before
project (kt/year)

Capacity after
project (kt/year)

Olefin-1

370

370

Olefin-2

–

250

370

620

LDPE-1

55

55

LDPE-2

65

65

LDPE total

120

120

HDPE-1

200

200

–

200

200

400

PP-2*

50

0

PP-3

100

100

PP-4

140

180

PP total

290

280

Polymer total

610

800

–

–

CAPEX
(EUR million)

Olefin Plant (ethylene)

Olefin total

238

Polyethylene Plants

PE-4 (HDPE-2)
HDPE total

129

Polypropylene Plants

12

Supplementary facilities
Capex total

13

50
430

* The plant closed in 2002.
The significance of the development is comparable to the establishment of TVK and hence is regarded as a
major milestone both in the history of the company and the Hungarian petrochemical sector. The project will
help TVK reach the economies of scale that will allow it to retain its leading position in the region of Central and
Eastern Europe and to strengthen its market presence in the European Union.
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2002: Focus on Strategic Development Projects

The contract on constructing and commissioning a new polyethylene plant was signed by the managers of
TVK and the Japanese Mitsui in Budapest on May 13. EUR 129 million in capital expenditure will be used to start
up production in a new high density polyethylene plant in 2004. Once implemented, the project will allow the
formulation of an innovative product portfolio, which will improve the competitiveness of TVK in this product
segment.
The construction of the Olefin-2 Plant started with building the construction and electric organization facilities
in August 2002. István Csillag, minister of economy and transport, launched this large scale capital expenditure
project at TVK symbolically with the ground breaking ceremony of the plant on September 25.
Unlike the other projects of the petrochemical development program, the intensification of the Polypropylene-4
Plant had received board approval and was launched back in 2001 and was completed in 2002.
The upgraded production capacity of the PP-4 Plant allowed the company to close the PP-2 Plant at the end
of November, 2002 as it only operated on an intermittent basis and was less cost efficient.
The petrochemical development also demanded a solution for the stable and economic supply of energy to
TVK Rt. As part of this a new combined cycle power plant will be constructed at the premises of TVK to serve
as the major supplier of thermal energy to the company. The capital expenditure project worth EUR 53.3 million
will be implemented jointly by TVK Rt. and ÉMÁSZ Rt. in a project financing arrangement. Commissioning is
scheduled for late 2003.
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2002: Focus on Strategic Development Projects

TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

The Events of the Strategic Project in 2002
The implementation of the program progressed as scheduled in 2002 and the following status was reached
at year end:
Olefin-2 sub-project: A foreign trading agreement on the second stage of the Olefin-2 project (total project
implementation) has been signed with the German Linde. The contract took effect when the related credit
agreement for financing the project was executed. The project was granted the Environmental Permit and the
competent authority approved the Security Report. On site construction work started on August 1.
PE-4 project: Foreign trading and license agreements have been signed for the construction of the
Polyethylene-4 Plant with MES/MCI. The Northern Hungarian Environmental Authority approved the detailed
Environmental Impact Analysis of the project. Negotiations targeted reserving construction capacity have
started.
PP-4 project: After the upgrade of the process control system in 2001, bottleneck process equipment was
replaced and the space for logistics was expanded in 2002. After a successful trial run, the project completed
with participation of the authorities in a takeover procedure on December 12, 2002.
Supplementary facilities project: A contract for constructing an ethylene tank has been signed. Construction
is in progress in each component area. The applications for constructing and erecting the ethylene plant have
been submitted to the authorities and the drafting of the design documents required for licensing several
facilities is in progress. On site construction and the expansion of interconnecting pipe work have started. The
construction of the road and utility network has also begun.

TVK announced its strategy of streamlining and focusing on core business in late 1999. The company has
applied unfaltering consistency in selling subsidiaries involved in plastic processing, a variety of services
and other non-core activities. When the process closed, TVK had divested 29 subsidiaries. Selling non-core
businesses concluded in 2002 by disposing three companies (Ecocenter Kft., TVK-ReMat Kft., and Ecomissio Kft.)
that were involved in waste management and used to form the Environmental Technology Business Unit within
TVK. The outsourcing of certain activities may be arranged in the future in line with this strategy.
14
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2002: Focus on Strategic Development Projects

Days of a Ten Year Old Company
The tenth anniversary of transformation into a joint stock company set the scene for a meeting with partners,
that was had in the Miskolc National Theatre, on January 19, 2002. The event proved to be an excellent occasion
for corporate staff to foster and deepen personal relations with high priority partners.
The Company commissioned a state-of-the-art Siemens telephone exchange in late November 2002. The
digital system lends itself to high speed communication of voice, data and images in superior quality and allows
TVK Rt. to apply the vanguard of 21st century technology in handling customers.

2002 brought two important prizes to TVK Rt.: the Hungarian Business Leaders Forum recognized the company
with the Environmental Award called “Business for the Environment” and the 2001 Award for Innovation from
the Ministry of Education. The latter came as joint recognition to the company and a TVK subsidiary, Inno-Comp
Kft., for the novel solution known as “Development of the polypropylene powder R 806 as feed stock for high
speed processing into polypropylene pipes”. The prizes continue to drive TVK professionals towards higher
levels of environmental awareness in production and to motivate the search for innovative solutions.
In June 2002, TVK closed the era of sub-system level quality assurance with the successful certification of its
new comprehensive, corporate level Quality Management System (QMS) under ISO 9001:2000 standard. The
goal of the quality system responds to corporate strategy by requiring QMS, a certified system for “making and
selling petrochemical feed stocks, polyethylene and polypropylene”, to promote the delivery of the best quality
service to partners.
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

CORPORATE OVERVIEW
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt., the sole source of polyolefin in Hungary and the leading producer of polyethylene and
polypropylene in the region of Central and Eastern Europe.
TVK Rt. utilizes its vertically integrated structure of production to produce raw materials for plastics
processing from a variety of hydrocarbons. The production process includes two major stages: making
monomers and polymerization.

Vertically Integrated Operation

Purchased Ethylene

Making Monomers

Polymerization

Ethylene

Naphtha

LDPE Plants
HDPE Plant

Gas Oil

Ethylene Sold
LDPE

HDPE

Olefin Plant
Propylene

Purchased Propylene

PP Plants

PP

C4, C6, C7 fraction, quench oil, hydrogen

The Olefin Business Unit
Built at Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát with Linde technology, the olefin plant started up in 1975 to replace the first
ethylene unit.
Most of the feedstock is supplied by MOL Group, which also processes a major portion of the resulting byproducts such as isobutylene, benzene and gasoline fractions to make MTBE and benzene or as components in
blended gasoline. Quench oil is utilized as feed stock for making carbon black by Tiszai Columbian Koromgyártó
16

Kft. (CTK), located in the TVK industrial complex.
The polymer plants of the company process most of the ethylene and the all of the propylene output.
TVK Rt., as the sole producer of ethylene in Hungary, is a strategic supplier of BorsodChem Rt., and the bulk
of the feed stock it provides is made in house. Yet, TVK also imports small volumes of of ethylene from the
Ukraine.
To ensure full coverage of the monomer requirement of polypropylene production capacities there is an
increasing need to procure propylene from external sources.
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Corporate Overview

Income and Sales Volumes of the Olefin Business Unit, 1998 - 2002
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The Polymer Business Unit
Total annual polymer output reached 585 kilotons as a result of the favorable supply of monomers in 2002.
Capacity utilization of the production units of the company, which keeps reaching extraordinary high levels,
continued to improve. The company recorded higher production volumes and superior effective capacity
utilization in each product segment than in 2001.

Low Density Polyethylene (LDPE) Product Group
TVK switched to integrated production in 1970, when its polyethylene plant of ICI technology (LDPE-1) came on
line to process the ethylene produced upstream by the olefin pant. The capacity to produce low density polyethylene
and the related product portfolio expanded substantially by commissioning a new plant (LDPE-2) of BASF
technology in 1991. The low density polyethylene product known by the brand name TIPOLEN is utilized in making:
• films,
• blown hollow objects,
• mould products.

Income and Sales Volumes of the LDPE Product Group, 1998 - 2002
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

Corporate Overview

High Density Polyethylene (HDPE) Product Group
Utilizing PHILLIPS process technology to produce high density polyethylene, the HDPE Plant was constructed
in 1986. HDPE serves as a raw material for multiple applications. Accordingly, products marketed by the brand
name TIPELIN include polyethylene types for
• films,
• blown hollow objects of a variety of sizes,
• split fibers,
• gas and water pipes.

Income and Sales Volumes of the HDPE Product Group, 1998 - 2002
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Polypropylene (PP) Product Group
In addition to the polypropylene plant that came on line in 1983 with the SUMITOMO process and the one
commissioned in 1989 with HIMONT (now Basell) technology, a cutting edge PP plant utilizing the MONTELL
(now Basell) process technology has been available since spring 2000 to produce TVK’s polypropylene products
marketed by the brand name TIPPLEN, including homopolymers, impact copolymers as well as random
copolymers. A wide array of product types is offered for application in:
• mould products,
• pipes and profiles,
• cast and blown films,
• bi-axially oriented films,
• rafia and mono filaments,
• fibers.

Income and Sales Volumes of the PP Product Group, 1998 - 2002
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TISZAI VEGYI KOMBINÁT Rt.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES
TVK Italia S.r.l.

TVK UK Ltd.

TVK Inter-Chemol GmbH

Sell TVK products
in Italy

Sell TVK products in the
United Kingdom

Sell TVK products in
Germany

Year of Incorporation

1994

1996

1997

Premises

Milan

London

Frankfurt am Main

Registered Capital

EUR 100,000

GBP 200,000

EUR 615,000

TVK Stake

100%

100%

100%

Co-owner

-

-

-

Activity

2002 Financial Figures (HUF million)
60

57

177

10,880

5,516

11,906

Net Profit

9

5

41

Book Value

59

56

177

Shareholder’s Equity
Sales

TVK-MOL Chem S.a.r.l. TVK-Austria GmbH Inno-Comp Kft.

TVK Ingatlankezelő Kft.

Sell TVK products in
France

Sell TVK products
in Austria

Make, sell and
develop special
thermoplastic
compounds

Utilize real
estate

Year of Incorporation

1997

1998

1998

1998

Premises

Paris

Wiener Neustadt

Tiszaújváros

Tiszaújváros

Registered Capital

EUR 76,225

EUR 36,336

HUF 822 million

HUF 2,970 million

TVK Stake

50%

51%

69%

100%

Co-owner

MOL Chem Kft.

ITRACO GmbH

PCG Polyconsult A.G. -

Activity
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2002 Financial Figures (HUF million)
35

79

953

2,978

3,685

3,909

5,148

481

Net Profit

0

35

106

8

Book Value

18

40

658

2,978

Shareholder’s Equity
Sales
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

TVK Rt. gives high priority to protecting its environment and regards maintaining top level the environmental
performance as a major responsibility. An audit by the supervising authority of our Environmental Management
System was completed successfully in January. Compliance with Hungarian environmental laws is a fundamental
standard to guide corporate behavior, which is also confirmed by our results in 2002:
• The management of hazardous wastes complied with the requirements as certified by the audit of the
regional authority.
• On-site audits of sewage by the authority seeking to ensure water quality protection recorded findings of
pollutant concentrations below control limit in waters discharged into the Sajó Canal, i.e. waters channeled
into the surface reservoir met regulatory requirements.
• Clean air protection is based on metering emissions from 16 point sources. Air pollutant emissions deriving
from the process technology of the plants were below limit in each case except for a single point source in the
Olefin Plant. Finding a solution for that problem is in progress.
HUF 147 million was allocated to and used in the implementation of environmental CAPEX projects in 2002,
including significant achievements such as:
• the former open air emergency sewer reservoirs used by the Olefin Plant and the paint operation have
been replaced by commissioning a closed sewer relief tank of 10,000 m3, giving way to demolishing and land
reconstruction of the outdated pools.
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• the efficiency of dust separation increased from 92% to 98% in the catalyst activating unit of the HDPE Plant
after the installation of a new dust filter, which also reduced catalytic losses and the amount of hazardous
waste substantially,
• 96% of the hydrocarbon gas mixture can now be recycled from the polyethylene drying phase in the HDPE
Plant after the installation of a unit to recover isobutane-nitrogen. In addition to saving cost, that reduces the
isobutane-nitrogen load on the flare by 700 kg/hour, improving in turn the emissions of carbon-dioxide and
nitrogen-oxide from the flare into the air.
The remediation activities designed to eliminate environmental damage ‘inherited’ from the past have
continued at higher intensity. The amounts spent on cleaning up polluted areas increased from HUF 246 million
in 2001 to HUF 440 million in 2002. Following the comprehensive survey of environmental status in 1996, the
company initiated another survey of the level of contamination of the areas subjected to clean-up. In response
to the findings of a survey conducted by an independent auditor in Q4 2002, the company added HUF 2,100
million to the amount provisioned against the potential extra expenditure the clean-up might require. In line
with the relevant IFRS standards, the provisioned amount covers expected expenditures that were known and
could be readily calculated at the date of this report. The probability that the jobs that will get performed by
2010 might incur additional costs exists.
TVK is making conscious preparations for accession to the European Union. When the company designed the
new strategic capital expenditure projects it took into account the environmental and safety directives of the
European Union. Corporate professionals have participated in developing the opinion of the sector on the drafts
of laws and regulations affecting the industry.
In response to a request by the Ministry
of Environment and Water Management, the
company agreed to participate in what is known
as an IPPC3 PHARE Twinning pilot project. The
project used TVK’s Polypropylene-4 Plant, which
was upgraded in 2002, as the target of a case
study designed to gather experience with the
preparation and issue of a Uniform Permit for
Using the Environment. Experts from Wiesbaden
visited TVK as part of the project and studied
the environmental activities of the company.
The exchange of experience was equally
useful for legislators and those applying law.
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TVK got involved through MOL Rt. with a
work program of monitoring and reducing the
emission of greenhouse gases (carbon-dioxide,
methane, nitrous oxide, etc.) designed to launch
precaution measures to prevent global warming
and global climate change.

3

Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control
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SAFETY
Health and safety
The health status of employees was controlled relying on health checks including (initial, regular, extraordinary
and closing) aptitude tests, mass (pulmonary, urological, gynecological) screening and the necessary care by
medical specialists.
The most important indicator of our safety (or in broader terms: safety engineering) efforts is the number
and frequency of work-related incidents. The favorable trend of recent years continued and the number of
accidents kept decreasing.
Number and Frequency of Work-Related Incidents
Incident descriptor

2002

2001

No day of work lost

8

18

1-3 days

0

0

10

14

0

0

18

32

6

6

2.77

3.6

4.99

8.23

8.42

10.99

Number of work-related incidents

Healing over 3 days
Classified as serious in HS Act
Total
Quasi incidents
Frequency of incidents
Frequency of incidents with more than 3 days lost
Total frequency of incidents
Reportable incidents for 1000 blue collar staff

Note: The incident frequencies introduced at TVK Rt. in 2001 refer to 1 million effective working hours

In order to meet its health and safety objectives the company performed a number of major tasks including
first of all:
− introducing the Occupational Health and Safety Administration System under the OHSAS 18001:1999
standard,
− continuing the comprehensive risk evaluation project performed in 2000-2001, analysis of the risks
associated with screen based job locations, manual material handling, the use of personal protective gear
and developing the related methods of self-examination,
− comprehensive survey of hazardous materials and preparations used in TVK Rt. issuing written instructions
to personnel handling them,
− review of supply of personal protective gear to employees handling carcinogen substances, introducing
measures to prevent direct contact,
− review of the working conditions of employees assigned to job positions with exposure to extreme noise,
biological or psychological load or air pollution and of the appropriate quality of individual and collective
protective devices and the efficiency of the methods of organizing work.
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The Safety of Technical Equipment
The company continued to monitor and check the technical condition of operating equipment according to a
programmed inspection plan, including first of all the review of the status of storage tanks holding hazardous liquids
at the company in line with the provisions of Decree 2/2002 (I.23) BM.
TVK Rt. was the only major company in the chemical industry to draft and to submit to the National
Directorate for Disaster Prevention its Security Report by the original deadline of September 30, 2002. As a top
echelon operation in terms of hazard, TVK had to draw up a security plan for the plants designed as part of the
strategic capital expenditure program (Olefin-2 and PE-4).

Fire Protection
The favorable trend of past year continued. In addition to a drop in the number of fires TVK achieved the best
24

result in this area as there was only a single incident without significant damage. In order to maintain the same
level of performance, there have been 12 “live” warning disaster drills in the plants of the company that are
exposed to extreme fire and explosion hazard.
It is also important from the environmental perspective that the replacement of 1,386 halon-filled manual fire
extinguishers with ones meeting EU standards has been completed as part of a three-year program.
The expenditure on safety equipment came to HUF 382 million in 2002, which is substantially larger than
the average of the previous four years.
Simultaneously with this Annual Report, TVK Rt. published its Health, Safety and Environment Report 2002,
where it discloses detailed information relating to this chapter.
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QUALITY MANAGEMENT
The company looks upon its commitment to quality as a major component of corporate strategy. TVK takes
regular measurements of customer and employee satisfaction using questionnaires and interviews. The
information received this way is analyzed and improvement measures are taken.
Conversion to the new process oriented ISO 9001:2000 standard has played a major role at company level. The
publication of this new international standard and the changes in strategy and organization focused attention
on the operation of a uniform Quality Management System (QMS). (Formerly, the company had six independent
certified quality assurance systems for each of its units of production, sales and services.) To respond to that
challenge the company developed its QMS for “making and selling petrochemical feedstock, polyethylene
and polypropylene” in line with the strategy of the company. The new QMS was successfully certified by TÜV
Rheinland EUROQUA Kft. in June, 2002. The company drafted 26 new corporate level process regulation manuals
and sixty unit level operating manuals as part of the conversion from the old system, while seeking to retain the
values of the previous sub-system based quality assurance regulations.
Conversion to a new standard was a major exercise for the Safety Equipment Testing Laboratory and for the
Central Laboratory, as both units had to respond to the changes in the standard for the accreditation of test
laboratories (MSZ EN ISO/IEC 17025:2001). Both laboratories completed the conversion by deadline (April and
December, 2002 respectively). Compliance with the new requirements was confirmed by the certificate of the
National Accreditation Board.
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Internal auditors performed continuous checks (26 system audits and 10 follow-up audits) of the quality
insurance system and examined whether or not accredited laboratories worked and developed in compliance
with the standard and internal procedures. The measures recommended to improve revealed discrepancies and
to develop the system have been implemented.
The company has been applying the EFQM model of self-evaluation since 1996. The 1998 National Quality
Award and the grant of the “Recognised for Excellence in Europe” title in the European Quality Award
competition in 2001 are superior achievement of the quality function of the company. Conscious and systemic
self-evaluation also continued in 2002.
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A NEW ROLE FOR HR
The human resources strategy and objectives of the company and the related HR programs show a close match
with TVK Rt. strategic goals. The highlights of the activities of the HR function in 2002 include the preparation for
the program of organizational efficiency, the support of the strategic project, the launch of changing corporate
culture and the hunt for well trained and motivated potential employees. The company is doubtlessly one of
the most attractive employers in the region, which increases the importance of the professional management
of recruitment and selection processes.
Seeking to improve its own efficiency the Human Resources
organization itself developed its independent strategy to support
the implementation of the strategy of the company and to
manage changes from an HR perspective. Hence it supports
the achievement of organizational objectives as a strategic and
business partner. Another objective of the HR function involves the
strengthening of the internal advisor role and the HR consultant
function.
The average headcount of the company dropped from 2,292 to
2,126. The closing headcount of TVK Rt. at December 31, 2002 was
2,056 people.
The conditions required for operating the company efficiently
were specified by functional areas on the basis of an analyses
of processes and industrial benchmarks for the sector, like in
previous years.
Despite the reduction of headcount, 33 new employees joined
the company in 2002. The recruitment was motivated by the demand for label generated in connection with
the strategic project. Accordingly, hunting down appropriate professional staff and preparing for stabilizing the
conditions after completing the Petrochemical Development Project are top priorities.
The system of positions has been upgraded and now jobs match the streamlined structure of the organization
as it evolved after changing the corporate profile. Furthermore an integrated and more comprehensive
framework has been created for managing human resources based on the new position-family approach of HAY
Group Magyarország Kft. That forms the foundations for
personalized job descriptions, compensation performance
evaluation and the definition of training needs.
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Which policy measures included wage increases
indexed with the projected rate of inflation as well
as individual cases of wage adjustment related to job
evaluation (taking labor market income surveys into
account) and recognizing extraordinary performance. As
a result of the wage measures taken the annual average
wages of the employees of the company came to HUF
2,564,104 per employee p.a. or HUF 213,925 per employee
per month. The annual budget for Fringe Benefits came
to HUF 300,000 per employee.
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Ensuring the availability of highly trained employees has remained a strategic objective for training. “On
the job” training and group development targeted at organizational development gradually complement
institutional training and individual development with a view to the main points of the strategy. A total of
1,311 employees participated in personal development programs and training time exceeded 100 thousand
hours and incurred a total of HUF 71 million in cost for the company. TVK Rt. supported the development of
five universities and five vocational schools by contributing HUF 52 million, which it charged to its vocational
training contribution account.
A well functioning representation of interest system is another way to ensure that the voice and opinion of
the employees are taken into account at the company. The organs of interest representation at TVK Rt. operate
in regulated setting and the cooperation with the employer is governed by the guidelines provided in the
Collective Agreement, concluded for four years in 2001 and by the provisions of the Labor Code.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
TVK Rt. plays an outstanding role in the region of Northern Hungary. It bends over backwards to assert itself
as a corporate citizen by earmarking funds in support of a wide variety of selected causes from culture through
sports to the prevention of diseases.
Sports train people to lead a healthy life. It is in this spirit that
the company sponsors sportsmen and women, clubs and events.
Competitive sports set examples to follow, which is why we selected
the Tiszaújváros Water Sports Club, which has trained multiple world
and European champions in kayaking, TVK Mali Triathlon Club, known
for its stamina, Júlia Sebestyén, bronze medallist European champion
and Olympic participant in figure skating and Sándor Végh, six times
Hungarian champion hot air balloonist. Besides professional sports,
popular sporting events offer lasting memories and great pleasure
to everyone. Such event are exemplified by the TVK Triathlon Week
of Passion, which the is supported by the company and also bears its
name. As part of the event, the internationally recognized and popular
TVK Triathlon World Cup has been organized for the fifth year now.
As a supporter of culture, the company agreed to sponsor the
National Theatre of Miskolc in 1996 and hence contributes in the main to enriching the county with plays of
excellent quality. Cooperation with the museum named after Ottó Herman looks back on a history of 10 years
now and earned the company the PRO-MUSEO prize in 2002.
The company is also committed to eliminating the backlog of the Southern Borsod region, to increasing its
competitiveness and to improving the quality of life of the people living there. Local governments, schools
and the non-governmental organizations engaged in especially useful activities are supported through major
annual contributions to two foundations: “TVK Rt. for the Development of the Southern Borsod Region” and
“For the Future of Tiszaújváros”.
The company has traditionally expressed its responsibility for
future generations in two areas: raising environmental awareness
and the protection of health. In respect of the latter, the company
contributed funds in 2002 to areas such as popular sports, junior age
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sportsmen and the treatment and early diagnosis of illnesses. The
sponsorship of the Center for Pediatric Health of the Borsod-AbaújZemplén County Hospital reflected that spirit and involved funds
devoted to purchasing medical instruments suitable for diagnosing
children, and to renovating the Kiddy Corner at Christmas.
To help meet its own demand for highly trained professionals,
the company maintains close relations in a variety forms with the
institutions of higher and secondary education and promotes the
effectiveness of teaching through significant contributions.
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MISSION, VISION, VALUES

Vision
TVK should play a leading role in the petrochemical business by way of a mutually
beneficial system of partnerships designed to secure a dominating position for the
company in Central Europe by implementing corporate developments and through
other opportunities and by strengthening TVK’s role as an independent supplier in
the integrated market of the European Union.

Mission
Our customers should associate the name of TVK with quality and reliability.
Our employees should be proud of being part of dynamic development in an
environment of dignity.
We keep increasing the value of the Company and seek shareholders’ confidence.

Values
Highly qualified, creative and motivated employees.
Commitment through a sense of responsibility for health, safety and the natural
environment.
Business relations based on mutual benefits.
Quality consciousness immersing the operation of the company.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT ON BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE IN 2002
2002 was one of the most unfavorable years of the past decade for the petrochemical business. The margin
between the price of polymer products, which determines the profitability of the company, and that of pyrolysis
feedstock fell sharply to an all time low from previous years. Polyolefin prices, which suffered severe blows form
the recession, are seen as the main reason behind the downturn.
4
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Main Market Prices of the PP Product Group , 2000-2002
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In 2002, the quoted price of naphtha rose slightly by 9 USD/t (4%) against a minor drop in the price of gas oil by
8 USD/t (4%) from the averages seen a year earlier. Annual profitability also receded as the change in feedstock
prices that followed the rising trend in the price of crude oil did not couple with an increase in polymer prices.
Although the prices5 quoted in international markets for the polymer products made by TVK rose in the first two
quarters, they showed a downward trend in the second half of the year despite the rise in feedstock prices. They
depressed polymer prices to hit the minimum by late November, when coincided with feedstock prices, which
rose in response to the tension created by the war on Iraq and the strike in Venezuela. Especially in Q4 2002, the
strong HUF chiseled away some more of the margin, which kept dwindling in EUR anyway.
Our 2001 audited financial reports indicated the likelihood of increasing after an independent audit the
provisions set aside for the cleaning up the legacy of environmental damage passed on by the legal predecessor
of the Company and dating mostly back to the 1970s and 1980s. The Company added HUF 2.1 billion to the funds
provisioned for environmental purposes in response to the audit.
Despite adverse market conditions and the provisions made against past environmental liability, the Company
managed to remain in the black in the business year ending December 31, 2002.

Profit and Loss Statement
In 2002, the sales income of TVK Rt. came to HUF 130,297 million with group level consolidated revenues at
HUF 135,124 million, representing a downturn of 10% and 13%, respectively from sales in 2001. The reduction of
group level sales income derives mostly from the drop in the volume of sales income realized by TVK Rt. and the
contracting scope of consolidated companies. Plastico S.A., Flexofol Kft., TVK-Ecocenter Kft., TVK ReMat Kft., which
had been part of the group in December 2001, did not contribute to the revenues in 2002 as they were divested
in the meantime.
The sales of the parent company made up 96% of group level sales income, with the contribution of Inno-Comp
Kft., and the commercial subsidiaries also contributing to the income substantially. The fall in the quoted prices of
its products and the strengthening of the HUF against the EUR played a major role in reducing the unconsolidated
sales income of TVK Rt., which was modestly counterbalanced by the increase in volumes sold.

Sales Income, 1998-2002
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The sales income of the parent company decreased by HUF 14,868 million. In 2002, the Olefin Plant used 925
kt naphtha and 119 kt gas oil to make 365 kt ethylene and 197 kt propylene, or a total of 18 kt more than in
2001. All in all 258 kt of by-products were also generated, most of which was processed by MOL Rt. The amount
ethylene shipped from the Ukraine rose by 8 kt bringing the full purchased volume to 37 kt. On the polymer
side, the output of the LDPE Plants was up 5.8 kt, that of the HDPE Plant by 9.3 kt and the PP Plants made 17.8
kt more product in 2002 than in 2001.
Capacity utilization, which has been typically high at the production units of TVK Rt., continued to improve.
The higher rates of capacity utilization and output volumes emanate from the three week planned overhaul
performed at the Olefin Plant and the Polyethylene Plants in Q3 2001, which was not repeated in 2002.
TVK Group’s Sales by Production Units, 2002 (HUF million)
Domestic Sales

Export Sales

Total Sales

Olefin

26,811

2,224

29,035

LDPE

9,004

9,696

18,700

HDPE

6,968

24 321

31,289

18,231

29,053

47,284

3,865

124

3,989

Effect of Consolidation

(3,003)

7,830

4,827

Total

61,876

73,248

135,124

PP
Income from Other Businesses

Compared to the average of 2001, the USD quoted price6 of LDPE film type fell by 1%, whilst the reduction of
the price of a HDPE blown type was heavier at 10%, with the difference in absolute terms coming to -6 USD/t
and -70 USD/t, respectively. On the polypropylene side, there was a simultaneous increase on the preceding
year in the price of homopolymer rafia and copolymer types by 5% for both product groups, or nominally, by
+33 USD/t and +36 USD/t, respectively.
Besides the changes in main market prices, the strong HUF was also unfavourable for the sales income of
TVK, which was determined by prices quoted in EUR in both the domestic and the international markets. In 2002
the average EUR/HUF rate was 242.8, in contrast with 256.6 a year earlier.
Despite the poor demand for polymer, market volumes sold were higher in each polymer product group than
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in the comparable period of the preceding year. 111.5 kt of LDPE grades, 197.2 kt of HDPE grades and 288.1
kt self-produced and purchased PP grades were sold in the course of the year, corresponding to and increase
of 4%, 5% and 9%, respectively. Sold volumes of Olefin Plant sales dropped to 419 kt (from 437 kt), including
ethylene sales of 83 kt (against 88 kt in the reference year).

6

Polymer prices are quoted in EUR, but the analysis uses converted dollar values for the sake of comparison.
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Factors Influencing the Sales of Product Groups, 2002 (HUF million)

Effect of Change
in Price

Effect of Change
in Rate

Effect of Change
in Volume

Total

Olefin

(1,772)

(2,287)

(1,856)

(5,915)

LDPE

(2,193)

(1,060)

851

(2,402)

HDPE

(5,620)

(1,773)

1,886

(5,507)

PP

(2,560)

(2,637)

4,405

(792)

Total

(12,145)

(7,757)

5,286

(14,616)

TVK Rt. realized 50% of its income on domestic sales. Not unlike in previous years, Germany (23%) took the
lion’s share from exports, followed by Italy (17%), Poland (15%), the UK (7%), France (5%) and Austria (5%).
TVK Rt.’s Export Sales, 2002–2001 (HUF million)
2002

2001

61,661

65,332

Middle-East

2,507

3,698

North America

1,578

3,747

406

698

66,152

73,475

Europe

Africa
Total (net of rebate)
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Total operating income reached HUF 136,251 million against HUF 156,727 million in the previous year, which
corresponds to a fall of 13%.
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The operating cost total fell by 9% to HUF 135,808 million. The major factor behind the fall was the 8%
decrease in material-type costs, which accounted for 82% of the operating cost total. The variance derives
from the change in feedstock prices, which followed global market trends, and the change in exchange rate
(relatively low USD/HUF rate). The value of material related expenditure stood at HUF 110,880 million, including
material costs (84%), material related services used (7%), cost of good sold (8%) and mediated services (1%).
The cost of naphtha and gas oil represented 68% of material costs.
In contrast with the value of HUF 12,547 million in 2001, COGS was down by 27% to HUF 9,174 million in 2002.
The main reason behind the fall was the primary focus of the commercial subsidiaries of the group on selling
products made by the TVK Group and gradually liquidating their trading activities in response to the strategic
goals of the parent company. Consequently, the volume and value of commodities purchased for resale from
other sources had fallen substantially by 2002.
A reduction of 11% brought personnel costs down to HUF 9,478 million, mainly as a result of selling non-core
subsidiaries, i.e. a reduction of the number of consolidated companies in the TVK Group7 and the beginning of
efficiency improvement measures at the Company.
The depreciation fell by HUF 482 million (6%) to HUF 8,111 million. HUF 223 million worth of this decrease
was realized in the parent company, whilst the fall of group level depreciation was due to removing divested
holdings from the scope of consolidation.
Other operating costs rose from HUF 7,101 million to HUF 8,573 million including HUF 2,101 million set aside
in provisions for future environmental expenditure.
The TVK Group recorded HUF 443 million as consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, extraordinary items
and minority interest (EBIT), which fell from HUF 6,933 million, by 94%.
In terms of the profit margin of HUF 6.5 billion, the operating profits of TVK Rt. were HUF 6.6 billion lower than
a year earlier. General and administrative overhead on sales was down by HUF 1.1 billion for the Group including
a decrease of 1.4 billion from the reference year for TVK Rt.

EBIT, 1998-2002
14,000
12,000
10,000
8,000

34

6,000
4,000
2,000
HUF million 0
1998
TVK Rt.

7

1999

2000

2001

2002

TVK Group

The reference data of 2001 include the personnel costs of Plastico S.A., TVK-ReMat Kft., Flexofol Kft. and Ecocenter Kft.
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EBITDA, 1998-2002
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Net financial income grew 61% to reach HUF 2,170 million. Financial income dropped by 25% to HUF 3,098
million. Interest received and interest related income were up 42% and came to HUF 2,653 million. The increase
is due to the transitional growth of the securities portfolio in preparation for the strategic CAPEX. The same
portfolio fell gradually from the second quarter of 2002 onwards due to the financing need of the strategic
projects. The foreign exchange gain realized on the loans denominated in foreign currency and on other assets
dropped by HUF 1,138 million from the previous year.
Financial expenditure fell by 66% from HUF 2,762 million to HUF 928 million. Interest paid decreased by
HUF 803 million due to the lower level of credit resulting from scheduled repayment of capital and early loan
repayment. Another major reason behind the fall in financial expenditure involves charging the loss of value of
subsidiaries for sale to this account in the reference period, whilst no similar charge was recorded in the period
subject to this report.
In 2002 the earnings before taxes, extraordinary items and dividends from minority holdings of the TVK Group
reached HUF 2,613 million. There were no extraordinary items in the course of the year. At HUF 123 million, the
consolidated corporate tax liability of the TVK Group shows the total amount of corporate tax payable after
the individual profits made by Group subsidiaries. In 2002 TVK Rt. wishes to make use of a 97.13% tax holiday.
The 2002 IFRS accounts show HUF 587 million charged as deferred taxation, which shows the corporate tax
liability for the period until 2015 calculated as the difference between the profit before tax figure determined in
line with the Accounting Act and the profit before tax resulting from taking into account the adjustment items
provided in the Tax Act. The consolidated balance sheet total came to HUF 1,819 million.
Net Profit, 1998-2002
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Balance Sheet
The value of the balance sheet total of the TVK Group fell by 2% between December 31, 2001 and December
31, 2002 to come to HUF 134,274 at year-end.
Down by 20%, the value of current assets reached HUF 60,231 million. Cash8 decreased by 45% to HUF 18,641
million, whilst the stock of securities maturing over 3 months fell by 24% to HUF 5,648 million. The two figures,
which show the liquid assets readily available for use by TVK, add up to HUF 24,289 million corresponding to a
fall of HUF 17,184 million (41%). The reduction results from the repayment of former long-term loans and the
increase of capital expenditure outflows.
Accounts receivable climbed 2% to reach HUF 22,178 million with inventories raising 5% to come to HUF 9,136
million.
The consolidated long-term assets were valued at HUF 74,043 million at December 31, 2002, which is 20%
short of their level a year earlier. Investments contracted by 9% to result in a figure of HUF 1,427 million at the
end of the period in response to the joint effect of selling non core subsidiaries and the increase of the stake
in TVK InterChemol Kft., TVK Erőmű Kft. and TVK-Polska Sp. z o.o. Tangible assets were up 14% and reached
HUF 65,927 million. The explanation behind the growth in tangible assets and the rise by HUF 2,742 million in
receivables includes first of all the capital expenditure outflows of the Petrochemical Development Project and
the large advance CAPEX payments incurred.
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The value of short-term liabilities rose by 14% between December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002 to yield the
figure of HUF 27,422 million at the end of the period. Accounts payable jumped by 30% to HUF 13,175 million. The
rise was triggered by the change in accounts payable to suppliers participating in the Petrochemical Development
Project.
Short term loans were up 6% and reached a total of HUF 9,518 million. The stock of credit included HUF 1,809
million in overdraft in addition to the current portion of long-term loans. The company reclassified HUF 7,709 million
in full as short term loans due to the early repayment of the remaining debt under a credit line of DEM 260 million
syndicated for 7 years by OTP Bank Rt. in July, 1998.

8

Including securities maturing under 3 months.
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The stock of long-term loans stood at HUF 6,046 million at year end after a fall of 63%. The reduction
is the consolidated effect of to contradicting factors: in April 2002, the company repaid HUF 9,959 million
corresponding to a portion of EUR 40.9 million of debt in a syndicated loan the company took out in 1998, which
is counterbalanced by the draw-down of HUF 7,945 million (EUR 33 million) from the syndicated facility taken out
to finance the strategic development project. The latter was reduced by HUF 1,910 million to cover for the lump
sum costs of financing as required by international rules. The increase of HUF 1,516 million in other long- term
liabilities should be interpreted to mean the growth in provisions set aside to cover environmental costs at TVK Rt.

Working Capital of TVK Group, 1998-2002
30,000
25,000
20,000
15,000
10,000
5,000
HUF million 0
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The owner’s equity of the TVK Group was HUF 97,112 million on December 31, 2002, which corresponds to an
increase of 2%. Retained earnings rose by HUF 1,849 million to reach HUF 57,580 million. Registered capital was
reduced in both the company and the group accounts to reflect the face value (HUF 113 million) of withdrawn
employee stock.

Capital Expenditure
The value of capital expenditure incurred by TVK Rt. in 2002 totaled at HUF 17,733 million, which is almost
three times the value in 2001. The growth is owing mostly to the implementation of the Petrochemical
Development Project, which corresponded in expenditure to 83% of the outflows total at the nominal value
of HUF 14,692 million. The total value of implementation is EUR 430 million including EUR 74 million worth of
disbursements before December 31, 2002.
The capitalized value of other capital expenditure incurred to support operations and of refurbishment
projects at the company was HUF 3,041 million in 2002. The figure includes the implementation of projects
designed to install production equipment and capital goods to support operations as well as maintenance
jobs required to keep the facilities running. As part of the above, the company spent HUF 869 million on safety
equipment, environmental jobs and infrastructure and HUF 125 million on IT developments. The value of
developments designed to install production equipment and capital goods to support operations, based on
wich the company is expects to make use of a tax holiday, is in access of HUF 3 billion (the capitalized value of
upgrading the PP-4 Plant).
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Major 2002 projects designed to install production equipment and capital goods in support of operations:
- renovation of process equipment, cracking furnaces at the Olefin-1 Plant, continuing the reconstruction of
the firewater network;
- developments to improve efficiency at the HDPE Plant of the Polymer Business Unit by installing isobutane
and nitrogen recovery equipment and by increasing the efficiency of catalyst activation;
- completed the third stage of the seven-year project designed to reconstruct interconnecting pipe-work
used for energy supply, the refurbishment of electric substation No. 31, construction of underground
cabling for TVK-Erőmű Kft.
TVK Rt.’s Capital Expenditure-including advance payment, (HUF million)
CAPEX (value of performances)
Grand total

17,733

Including:
I. Strategic Developments
- Construction of Olefin-2 Plant

7,611

- Polypropylene-4 upgrade

2,023

- Polyethylene-4 construction

3,723

- Service facilities for petrochemical developments

802

- Financing and operating costs of strategic development

533

II. Other Developments

3,041

- Investments, reconstruction carried over

244

- Production investments, reconstruction

593

- Operations supporting investments, rekonstruction

1,210

- Investment into and upgrade of infrastructure

400

- IT developments

125

- Safety development projects

382

- Environmental projects
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TVK GROUP
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2002 and 2001 PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
TOGETHER WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

József Molnár
Chief Executive Officer

Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
H-3581. Tiszaújváros Pf.: 20

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To the Shareholders of Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt. and subsidiaries
(the “Group”) as of 31 December 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income, consolidated changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated
financial statements set out on pages 1 to 60 are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly the financial position of
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt. and subsidiaries as of 31 December 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
as published by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw the attention to note 27.4 of the notes to the financial statements,
which presents the Company’s activities and costs regarding environmental protection, and its current and
potential future obligations identified by an independent environmental audit during 2002.

Arthur Andersen
Budapest, Hungary
1 April 2003.
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TVK GROUP CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
31 december 2002 and 2001
(in millions of HUF)
Notes
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Receivables, net
Inventories, net
Other current assets, net

Fixed assets:
Long-term investments
Tangible assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Receivables, net

31 December
2002

4
5
6
7
8

18,641
5,648
22,178
9,136
4,628
60,231

34,039
7,434
21,674
8,722
3,851
75,720

9
10
11
12

1,427
65,927
3,802
2,887
74,043

1,571
57,582
2,626
145
61,924

134,274

137,644

Total assets
Current liabilities:
Creditors
Short-term debt
Other current liabilities

14
15
16

13,175
9,518
4,729
27,422

10,185
9,006
4,862
24,053

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

17
30
18

6,046
587
2,773
9,406

16,569
0
1,257
17,826

334

389

24,510
57,580
15,022
0
97,112

24,623
55,731
15,022
0
95,376

134,274

137,644

Minority interest

46

31 December
2001

Equity
Share capital
Capital reserve
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

Total equity and liabilities

19
20

The accompanying consolidated notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.

TVK GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
for years ended 31 december 2002 and 2001
(in millions of HUF)
Notes

2002

2001

Sales

21

135,124

155,131

Other operating revenues

23

1,127

1,596

136,251

156,727

(110,880)

(120,266)

Personnel type expenses

(9,478)

(10,700)

Depreciation

(8,111)

(8,593)

(8,573)

(7,101)

Movements in self-produced inventories

248

(3,779)

Capitalised self-produced assets

986

645

(135,808)

(149,794)

443

6 933

2,170

1,351

2,613

8,284

Gain/(Loss) on discontinuing operations

0

589

Profit before tax and minority interest

2,613

8,873

Total operating revenues
Material type expenses

Other operating cost

24

Total operating expenses
Operating profit
Financial income - net

25

Profit before tax, exraordinary items and minority interest

Corporate tax

30

(123)

(108)

Deferred tax

30

(587)

0

1,903

8,765

(84)

(72)

1,819

8,693

Profit before minority interest

47

Minority interest
Net profit for the year
Earnings per share
Basic

29

75 HUF

356 HUF

Diluted

29

75 HUF

356 HUF

The accompanying consolidated notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of income.

TVK GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
for the years ended 31 december 2002 and 2001
(in millions of HUF)
Share
capital

Retained
earnings

Capital
reserves

24,700

48,018

15,022

14

(77)

-

-

-

Reversal of VIBA Kft’s revaluation

-

-

-

(14)

Profit for 2001

-

8,693

-

-

Entities eliminated from consolidation

-

(980)

-

-

24,623

55,731

15,022

0

(113)

-

-

-

Cash flow hedge (see note 15)

-

30

-

-

Profit for 2002

-

1,819

-

-

24,510

57,580

15,022

0

Balance on 1 January 2001
Redeemed treasury shares from employees

Balance on 31 December 2001
Redeemed treasury shares from employees

Balance on 31 December 2002

Revaluation
reserves
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The accompanying consolidated notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity

TVK GROUP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH-FLOW
for the years ended 31 december 2002 and 2001
(in millions of HUF)
2002

2001

NET CASH FROM OPERATIONS
Operating profit

443

6,933

8,111
76
(699)
(92)
31
0
(1)
1,787
(98)
(105)
(619)
(1,427)
3,143
(417)

8,593
169
0
(153)
0
6
(1,083)
(54)
(5)
4,762
2,179
(444)
(4,018)
556

10,133

17,441

(20,132)
240
78
(450)
703
(2,848)
1,784
2,642
2

(6,971)
1,726
6,821
(26)
326
377
(3,822)
1,805
209

(17,981)

445

8,140
(14,849)
998
0
(604)
(1,104)
(113)

46
(6,818)
0
(10)
(42)
(2.580)
(77)

(7,532)

(9,481)

(15,380)

8,405

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

34,019

25,614

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

18,639

34,019

Depreciation
Impairment of inventories
Reversal of impairment of tangible assets
Gain/loss on the disposal of tangible assets
Gain on the disposal of subsidiary
Extraordinary depreciation of tangible assets, scrapping
Other items without cash movement
Increase/decrease in environmental provision
Increase/decrease in other provisions
Increase/decrease in inventory
Increase/decrease in debtors
Increase/decrease in other receivables
Increase/decrease in creditors
Increase/decrease in other current liabilities
NET CASH FROM OPERATIONS
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital projects
Cash from the disposal of tangible assets
Net cash received from the sale of subsidiary
Financial investments made
Disposal of financial investments
Movements in loans granted and long-term bank desposits
Movements in short-term investments
Interest received and similar income
Dividends received
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Long-term loans drawn
Repayment of long-term loans
Movements in long-term borrowings
Other long-term liabilities
Movements in short-term loans
Interest paid and similar charges
Redeemed treasury shares
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The accompanying consolidated notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements of cash-flows.
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TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

1.

PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP STRUCTURE

1.1.

Structure of TVK Group

The following is a summary of ownership shares and voting rights of entities belonging to Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Group (the “Group”) as of 31 December 2002:

Description

Other owners

TVK
Group

Minority
Interest

Consolidation
Method

Ownership
Share Percentage
Parent Company
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.

(See Note 19.)

-

-

TVK Ingatlankezelő Kft.

100

-

Full consolidation

TVK Italia S.R.L.

100

-

Full consolidation

TVK UK Ltd.

100

-

Full consolidation

100

-

Full consolidation

Subsidiaries

TVK Inter-Chemol GmbH

Metallgesellschaft GmbH

Inno-Comp Kft.

PCG Polyconsult A.G.

69

31

Full consolidation

TVK Austria GmbH

Itraco GmbH

51

49

Full consolidation

MOL-CHEM Kft.

50

50

Proportionate

Joint Ventures
TVK-MOL-CHEM S.a.r.l.

The ownership in the above companies corresponds to the voting rights and to the level of control exercised by
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
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1.2.

BACKGROUND OF CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Vállalat (the “Vállalat ”) was founded in 1961 as a state company. Effective 31 December 1991, Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Részvénytársaság (“TVK Rt.”, “Parent Company” or “Company”) was incorporated. TVK Rt. is the legal successor of the Vállalat, which was terminated as a result of its transformation as
of 1 January 1992.
As of 31 December 1995, the Company was 99.92% owned by the Hungarian State Privatisation and Holding
Company (the “ÁPV Rt.”) and the remaining 0.08% was owned by local municipalities.
In 1996, the Company was privatised through offering shares owned by ÁPV Rt. to foreign and domestic
institutional and private investors. Following the privatisation, the shares of the Company were listed on the
Budapest Stock Exchange and the Global Depository Receipts (“GDRs”) representing the shares were listed
on the London Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2001, the majority of the shares is owned by domestic and
foreign institutional investors.
The Company, with its registered seat in Tiszaújváros (H-3581 Tiszaújváros Pf.: 20), produces chemical raw materials including ethylene, propylene and polymers of these products for both domestic and export markets.
As of 31 December 2001, the Company had 2,185 employees and as of 31 December 2002, 2,056 employees.
The person entitled to represent the Company is József Molnár (3700 Kazincbarcika, Akácfa u. 39.), Chief
Executive Director.

SUBSIDIARIES
TVK Ingatlankezelő Kft.
In May 1998, TVK Rt. established TVK Ingatlankezelő Kft. for the utilisation of certain properties. The issued
capital of the company as of 31 December 1998 was HUF 2,638 million and comprised of HUF 2,134 million
contribution in kind and 504 million cash contribution. The company is in charge with property management,
refurbishment and utilisation through leasing or similar arrangements and is also in charge with operating TVK
Rt’s welfare properties. The company’s equity as of 31 December 2002 was HUF 2,978 million.

TVK Italia S.R.L.
TVK Italia S.r.l. is a trading company seated in Milan, Italy, set up in 1994 by TVK Rt. and Cordusio SpA., Italy.
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The company purchases plastic raw materials on its own account from TVK Rt. and sells them in Italy. In 1995,
TVK Rt. acquired the remaining 40% of TVK Italia S.R.L. and thus became the sole owner of the company The
company raised its issued capital from retained earnings and capital reserve by HUF 21.9 million in 2001. The
company’s equity as of 31 December 2002 was EUR 252,000.

TVK UK Ltd.
TVK UK Ltd. was established in 1996 by TVK Rt. with a seat in London with an issued capital of GBP 200,000.
The company purchases polymers on its own account from TVK Rt. and sells them in the United Kingdom. The
company’s equity as of 31 December 2002 was GBP 165,000.

TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

Inno-Comp Kft.
In December 1998, TVK Rt. set up INNO-COMP Kft. with a capital of HUF 822 million jointly with Switzerland
based PCG Polyconsult A.G. The company is seated in Tiszaújváros, Hungary, and will develop, produce and sell
special thermoplastic compounds. TVK Rt. acquired 69% of the company by contributing assets worth a total
of HUF 266 million and HUF 300 million cash to the company. The company’s equity on 31 December 2002 was
HUF 953 million.

TVK Inter-Chemol GmbH
TVK InterChemol GmbH was established in 1997 with a seat in Frankfurt-am-Main by TVK Rt. and Metallgesellschaft GmbH (49%) with share capital of DEM 1,200,000. The company purchases polymer products on its
own account from TVK Rt. and, since 2002, from Slovnaft A.S. and sells these products in Germany. In 2001, as
the DEM ceased to exist, the company’s issued capital was converted to EUR and totalled EUR 615,000. In March
2002, TVK Rt. acquired the stake of the minority shareholder and thus became the sole owner of the company.
The company’s equity as of 31 December 2002 was EUR 752,000.

TVK Austria GmbH
In December 1998, TVK Rt. and ITRACO GmbH set up TVK-Austria GmbH with a capital of ATS 500,000. TVK
Rt. holds 51% of the company which is seated in Wiener Neustadt. The company distributes TVK products in
Austria. The company’s equity as of 31 December 2002 was EUR 330,000.

TVK MOL-CHEM S.a.r.l.
TVK-MOL-CHEM S.a.r.l. was established in 1997 by TVK Rt. and MOL-CHEM Kft. on a 50-50% basis with an issued
capital of FRF 500,000. The company is seated in Paris and purchases polymer products on its own account from
TVK Rt. and aromatic products from MOL Rt., and sells these in France. The company’s equity as of 31 December
2002 was EUR 149,000.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Company maintains and records its books in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards in
Hungary. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared primarily for use of outside
Hungary and reflect certain reclassifications and adjustments required to present them in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as published by the International Accounting Standards
Board.
Reconciliation between the consolidated profit for the year under HAS and that reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are included in Note 31.
The accompanying financial statements we approved by the board of Directors on 1 April 2003.
The Company’s financial year is the same as a calendar year.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Changes in the accounting policies
In 2002, the Company reviewed and qualified its inventories. As part of the process, spare parts the production of which is lengthy but a shortage would threat continuous operations were reclassified as strategic and
security inventories. Spare parts thus categorised are not subject to impairment (see note 10).

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include TVK Rt. and of the companies it controls. Control
is presumed to exist where the Group can, directly or indirectly, exercise more than 50% of the voting rights
and has controlling influence over the finances and operations of a company and benefits from its activities.
Minority shareholding reported in equity and net profit or loss for the year is shown separately in the balance
sheets and income statements respectively.
Companies under common control have been included in the consolidation in proportion of the equity owned,
i.e. the revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of such companies have be reported on apportioned to the percentage of equity owned. Investments in companies under common control and in other entities are revalued
if the realisable values of the assets materially differ from their book values.
The Parent company has significant participation (over 20%) in certain companies. (see Note 9.) These investments have been accounted for based on the equity method whereby the investment is recorded at the
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Parent’s ownership percentage in the net assets of the investment.

Goodwill
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s interest in the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired as at the date of the exchange transaction is recorded as goodwill and recognized as an asset in the
balance sheet. Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
The amortisation period is determined on a case-by-case basis and is generally between 5 and 20 years. At
each balance sheet date the Company assesses the probability of realising goodwill and the difference between the expected recoverable amount of the asset and its net value is written off.
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Related party transactions
All material related party transactions have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions
The reporting and functional currency of the Company is the Hungarian Forint. Foreign currency transactions
are recorded in the reporting currency by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between
the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on the settlement of monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded
during the periods are recognised in the statement of operations in the period in which they arise. (See Notes
23, 24 and 25). Foreign exchange gains and losses on trading activities is presented in other revenues/expenses,
while foreign exchange gains and losses on financial activities is presented in financial income/expense on a
net basis.

Foreign Operations
The Company has marketing and distribution subsidiaries abroad. These subsidiaries are considered as integral to the operations of the Company. The translation principles are applied as if the transactions of the foreign
operations had been those of the Company. In the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, foreign exchange
monetary items are translated using the closing rate, while non-monetary items are translated using the historical rate as of the date of acquisition. Income and expense items are translated at the exchange rates ruling on
the dates of the transactions. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income in the period in which they arise.

Revenue and expense recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits from the transaction will be realised at
the company and that the amount of such benefit is adequately quantifiable. Revenue net of related taxes and
discounts is recognised upon delivery of products or services by the Company, as this is the point at which the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the customer.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues taking into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividends
income is recognised when the shareholders become entitled to the dividends. Changes in the fair values of
derivatives that cannot be qualified for hedge accounting purposes are recognised as they accrue.
Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.

Tangible assets
All tangible assets were appraised by an independent asset valuer upon the Company’s transformation into
a public limited company on 1 January 1992. The valuation was based on the replacement cost of the assets as
adjusted with depreciation. Tangible asset additions after this date were recorded at cost.
Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties and
non-refundable purchase taxes and directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use, financing costs and the cost of operations of projects established as part of
the Petrochemical Development Programme attributable to the asset under construction. After commissioning,
costs attributable to continuous operations (maintenance, repairs) are expensed in the income statement
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when incur. Costs that clearly result in an increase in the expected useful life or the initial capacity of an asset
are capitalised.
Capital projects in progress include the historic cost of acquisitions in progress and assets in the These costs include acquisition costs plus direct prime costs. Depreciation is charged only as from the date of commissioning.
TVK Rt. has established an entity to prepare and carry out strategic projects and to co-ordinate the four
projects. The costs related to this activity can be considered as incurred during the normal course of business
to the extent they are closely attributable to the operations of the project entity.
Upon the disposal or write-off of an asset, the cost and accumulated depreciation of the asset is written off
from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the income statement.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method at rates calculated to write off the gross book value
of the assets over their estimated economic useful lives taking residual value into consideration. The following
table presents a summary of the estimated useful lives:
Buildings and infrastructure
Production machinery and equipment
Office and computer equipment
Vehicles

10-50 years
7-15 years
3-7 years
5-10 years

During 2001 the Company changed the economic useful lives of PP-IV plant from 7 to 15 years and integrated
production control systems from 3 to 7 years, respectively.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs generally are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.
Borrowing costs include interest on loans, foreign exchange gains/losses arising on loans to the extent these
have an adjusting impact on the interest and other borrowing costs that are attributable to the period of capitalisation on a pro rata basis.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
Tangible and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount of an
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asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. The net selling price is the amount
obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction while value in use is the present value of
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the
end of its useful life.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if this is not practicable, for the cash-generating
unit. Impairment losses are reviewed annually and, where the recoverable amount of an asset has changed, are
increased or written back, fully or partially, as required.
Spare parts are categorised separately in the Company’s accounting policies and the related impairment policies are laid down by category. The categories are revised on a quarterly basis.

TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to
the asset will flow into the enterprise; and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are
recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the
assets using the straight-line method for both financial reporting and tax purposes.
The following table presents a summary of the estimated useful lives:
Goodwill

5 years

Licence

7-15 years

Software

3 years

Receivables
Receivables are stated at historic value less impairment loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of historical cost or net realisable value. The realisable value is the market
value loss selling and marketing expenses. The historical cost of purchased inventory is determined using a
weighted average cost formula. Self-manufactured inventory includes production-related overhead costs. Obsolete and slow-moving inventories identified by management have been written off in the relevant period.

Investments
The company adopted IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on 1 January 2001. Accordingly, investments are classified into the following three categories: held-to-maturity, trading and available-for-sale. Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the company has
the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Investments
acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price are classified
as trading. All other investments, other than loans and receivables originated by the company, are classified
as available-for-sale.
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. These
investments are stated at cost less any diminution in their value.
Available-for-sale investments are classified as current assets if management intends to realize them within
12 months of the balance sheet date. These investments are initially measured at cost, which is the fair value of
the consideration given for them, including transaction costs. Available-for-sale investments are subsequently
carried at fair value.
Fair value gains/losses on investments available for sale and trading are recorded as financial income/
expense in the accompanying income statement.
Changes in the fair value that represent the performing part of cash flow hedges are disclosed separately
within equity.
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Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are recorded in the accompanying financial statements as reductions of share capital and
capital reserves. Any difference between the face value and the historic cost of these shares as well as gains/
losses, if any, are accounted directly in capital reserves.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with remaining three months or less to maturity from
the date of acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and are readily convertible
into cash.

Deferred tax
The Company’s corporate tax liability includes taxes relating to the given tax year and deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax
effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the balance sheet
date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against
which the deferred tax assets can be utilised. At each balance sheet date, the Company re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The Company recognises a previously
unrecognised deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Company conversely reduces the carrying amount of a deferred
tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the
benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Taxes relating to the reporting year and deferred taxes are accounted for directly in equity if such taxes relate
to items that had been accounted for in equity in previous periods including adjustments to the opening balances of reserves due to retrospective changes in the accounting policies.

Provisions
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A provision is recognised when, and only when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of past event and it is probable that the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current estimate. The value of provisions reflects the present value of costs necessary to settle the related liability and is discounted based on an
estimated risk free interest rate.
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Restructuring provision
In accordance with applicable Hungarian laws and standard statutory employment contracts, the Company’s
employees are entitled to be paid severance pay if made redundant. A restructuring provision is presented in
the accompanying financial statements if a restructuring programme has been outlined and the underlying
conditions make it practicable.

Environmental provision
Environmental costs relating to present and future revenues are expensed or capitalised according to their
nature as they incur. In the year when such costs are identified, a provision is made for the clean-up costs of existing pollution. The amount of environmental provision is identified based on applicable regulations and known
technology. An environmental provision is made when the underlying liability is probable and is adequately
quantifiable.

Segments
The Company has four major divisions that are the basis upon which the Company reports its primary segment information. These segments are vertically integrated and output of one segment serves as raw material
for the next segment (majority of Olefin production goes to raw material to Polypropylene and Polyethylene
production).
Financial information on business and geographical segments is presented in Note 21.

Discontinuing operations
The Board of Directors decided to discontinue the Company’s plastic production, environmental technology
and non-core operations. In the future, the Company’s strategic focus will be on its core activities. The Company
has sold most of the plastic companies in 2001. The environmental and some of the non-core investment were
sold in 2002.

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments disclosed in the accompanying consolidated financial statements include cash and
cash equivalents, marketable securities, trade and other receivables and payables, long-term receivables and
loans, investments, bonds receivable and payable disclosed in the accompanying balance sheet. The valuation
of financial instruments is set out in the accounting policies.
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the underlying
contractual arrangement. Interest, gains and losses relating to financial instrument classified as a liability are
reported as financial expense or income. Benefits given to the holders of equity element financial instruments
reduce equity. Financial instruments are netted of against each other only when the Company is entitled by
law to do so and when it is the Company’s explicit intention to settle the relevant asset or liability by the way
of netting or simultaneously.
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Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedging instruments are used to offset cash flow fluctuations related to the assets and liabilities
disclosed in the balance sheet, to forecasted transactions that are expected to occur or to off-balance sheet
commitments. Highly effective hedging instruments that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting purposes are
disclosed directly in equity in reserves. The ineffective portion of the instrument is reported in the net profit or
loss for the year.
If the hedged cash flow results in an asset or liability in the balance sheet, all gain or loss that has been recorded directly in equity are written off from equity and recognised at cost as an asset or liability, respectively.
In all other cases, gains or losses on the hedging instrument are posted to the net profit or loss for the year in
the same period during which the hedged commitment or forecasted transaction affects the net profit or loss.
If a hedging instrument is no longer effective, it no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. In this case,
the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that had initially been reported directly in equity when the
hedge was effective remains separately in equity until the committed or forecasted transaction occurs.
If the committed or forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, any related net cumulative gain or
loss that has been reported directly in equity is reported in the net profit or loss for the year.

Cash-flow
Material non-cash transactions have been eliminated from the accompanying cash flow statement prepared
according to IFRS.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised in the year when approved by the shareholders.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is identified based on the annual average of the Group’s profit and shares less redeemed
treasury shares. There was no transaction in either 2002 or 2001 which would have diluted the earnings per
share.

Subsequent events
Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the balance sheet
date are reflected in the financial statements. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes when material.
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Changes in presentation or classification of items in the financial statements
The Company presentated the consolidated statement of operations with the turnover cost method in its 2001
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. In 2002, due to the change of the accounting policy of the Company, the consolidated statement of operation is presented by the total cost method. The
Company made certain technical reclassifications in the consolidated statement of operations for 2001 in order
to ensure comparability between 2001 and 2002. These changes do not have an impact on the net profit.
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4.

LIQUID ASSETS

The Group’s liquid assets as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:
2002

2001
31 December

Securities maturing in 3 months

13,419

13,540

5,177

20,378

Cash

45

121

Total

18,641

34,039

Bank deposits

5.

SHORT-TERM SECURITIES

The Group’s short-term securities as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:

2002

2001
31 december

Discount treasury bills*

4,527

3,433

Government bonds*

1,102

1,102

16

32

NBH bond*

0

2,867

Other

3

0

5,648

7,434

Other shares

Total

* Investments guaranteed by the Hungarian government.
Depending upon maturity, NBH bonds, discount treasury bills and government bonds yield above inflation
(CPI in 2002: 5.3%).
All the above investments are marketable and are marked to market.
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6.

RECEIVABLES, NET

The Group’s receivables as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:
2002

2001
31 december

Export debtors
Domestic debtors

13,069

14,040

9,479

8,250

22,548

22,290

(370)

(616)

22,178

21,674

Less: impairment of doubtful debts*
Total

* The Company wrote off bad debts of HUF 68 million in 2002 and HUF 704 million in 2001.
For the impairment of doubtful debts, management estimated the total of potential losses that may arise
due to the liquidity problems of certain large debtors. problems. The impairment of smaller debtors was assessed in percentages based on an aggregate aged list of debtors. The effects of current economic trends and
past experience of impairment losses were also considered. The amount of impairment loss of doubtful debts
identified by management as of 31 December 2002 covers the amount of expected losses.
The change in impairment loss recognised in 2002 compared to 2001 was the result of a significant drop in
receivables outstanding over 360 day, because the Company wrote off bad debts during the year.
Export receivables are denominated primarily in EUR, USD and GBP and are recorded at the exchange rate as
of 31 December 2002 and 2001. The resulting gain or loss is classified in a net value either as other income and
other expense, respectively (see notes 23 and 24.) in the accompanying income statements.

7.

INVENTORIES, NET

The Group’s inventories as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:

2002

2001
31 december

62

Self-produced inventories

5,863

5,693

Purchased goods

3,307

3,140

9,170

8,833

(34)

(111)

9,136

8,722

Less: impairment of obsolete and slow moving items
Total
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Management believes that the level of provision as of 31 December 2002, is sufficient to cover potential
future losses.
As of 31 December 2002, no inventory owned by TVK Rt. was pledged for loans.

8.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS, NET

Other current assets of the Group as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:
2002

2001
31 december

Reclaimable VAT and other taxes

3,121

1,625

Import VAT reclaimable

447

538

Interest and dividends receivable

364

381

Prepayments to suppliers

187

357

Local taxes

149

0

Loans granted

97

0

Amount receivable from Plastico*

88

0

Costs relating to the following year

88

582

Refundable income tax

83

47

9

131

43

190

4,676

3,851

(48)

0

4,628

3,851

Revenues relating to current year
Other

Impairment of receivables
Total

*The long-term part of the loan receivable from Plastico SA and the proportionate impairment loss have been
disclosed among receivables. (see note 12).

63

TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

9.

INVESTMENTS

The Group’s long-term financial investments as of 31 December 2001 and 2002 were as follows:

Seat

Shareholding
2002
(%)

Book value
31
december
2002

Share in equity

31
december
2001

31 december
2002

Subsidiaries:
TVK Automatika Kft.

Tiszaújváros

51.0

213

178

215

TVK Polisec Kft.

Tiszaújváros

100.0

29

29

36

Warsaw

100.0

15

4

15

Chemopetrol Kft.

Tiszaújváros

66.7

6

6

19

TVK Gépszerelő Kft. V.A.

Tiszaújváros

100.0

3

3

3

Tiszachem Kft.

Budapest

100.0

2

3

3

Ecomissio Kft.*

Tiszaújváros

100.0

0

637

0

TVK HIX Kft.*

Tiszaújváros

100.0

0

86

0

TVK MED Egészségügyi Kft.*

Tiszaújváros

100.0

0

18

0

0

2

0

TVK-Polska Sp. z o.o.

Other
Associates:
TVK Erőmű Kft.

Tiszaújváros

26.0

473

27

476

Tűzoltó és Műszaki Mentő Kft.

Tiszaújváros

30.0

113

0

113

VIBA-TVK Kft.

Tiszaújváros

40.0

82

82

82

Tiszai Hulladékégető Kft.

Tiszaújváros

49.9

8

13

13

Government bonds

208

208

Other bonds

275

275

1,427

1,571

Long-term securities:

Total
64

1,458

* The entities were sold during 2002.
The above subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at fair value at year-end according to IAS 39.
Where the fair value of an investment cannot be determined, then the investments are valued based on the
equity method.
As the above subsidiaries and associated companies are not related to the Company’s main activity nor are
material, they were not included in the consolidation.
The above long-term securities (government bonds) are classified as investments held to maturity according
to IAS 39 and carried at amortized cost at year-end.

TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

SUBSIDIARIES:
TVK Automatika Kft. was established by TVK Rt. (74%), EL&ME Kft. and private individuals (26%) with an
issued capital of HUF 350 million. The company’s seat is in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. In December 1997, TVK Rt.
sold a quota worth HUF 45.5 million at face value to EL&ME Kft. then a further quota of HUF 35 million in 1998.
TVK Rt. currently owns 51% of the company. In 2002, TVK Rt. revalued the investment by HUF 53 million thus its
value as of 31 December 2002 was HUF 213 million. The company plans and produces control systems, repairs
and operates telecommunication systems.
TVK Polisec Kft. was founded in 1996, by the TVK Rt. and TVK Gépgyár Kft. The company’s activities include
various security services. In 1999, TVK Rt. bought out the other investor and acquired 100% ownership.
Chemopetrol Kft. was established by TVK Rt., the State Property Fund of The Ukraine and Mol Invest Vagyonkezelő és Értékesítő Rt with a seat in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. In 1999, the owners increased the company’s capital to HUF 3 million and then to HUF 105 million. In 2000, the owners decided to reduce the capital to HUF 30
million, and TVK Rt. purchased the stake of Mol Invest Vagyonkezelő és Értékesítő Rt. As a result, TVK’s stake
increased to 66.66%. The sells petrochemical products.
In 1998, TVK Rt. acquired 52.5% of TVK-Polska Sp. Z.o.o. from BritChem Trading Ltd. The company distributes
TVK polymers and plastics products in Poland. In April 2002, TVK Rt. acquired the stake of the minority shareholder and thus became the sole owner of the company. In 2002, TVK Rt. revalued the investment by HUF 6 million
thus its value as of 31 December 2002 was HUF 15 million. As a result of the transaction, goodwill of HUF 198
million, gross was recoded in TVK Rt’s accounts. The actual book value of the goodwill less amortisation as of
31 December 2002 was HUF - 172 million.
Tiszachem Rt. was set up in 1990 by TVK Rt., Chemol Rt., Mineralimpex and HIB International Ltd. with a share
capital of HUF 100 million. Since 1 January 2000, the company has gone dormant and was transformed from an
Rt into a Kft. in the same year. The company’s current capital is HUF 3 million. Since 1 January 2003 the company
has been under voluntary liquidation.
TVK Gépszerelő Kft. was established by TVK Rt. with a seat in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. The company repairs
and maintains special machinery owned TVK Rt. and located at third parties in Hungary. In 2000, TVK Rt. bought the minority interest thus the value of investment increased to HUF 300 million. In January 2001, most of
Gépszerelő Kft’s employees were taken over by TVK Rt. In 2001, the company’s issued capital was reduced to 3
million HUF. The company’s voluntary liquidation is expected to be finalised in 2003.
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INVESTMENTS SOLD IN 2002:
TVK Égetőmű Kft. was established in 1996 with a registered capital of HUF 423 million which was raised by
HUF 311 million by TVK Rt. in 1997. The company processes dangerous and other waste materials. In 1998, the
company’s name was changed to Ecomissió Kft. In January 2002, TVK Rt. sold its investment in Ecomissio Kft.
TVK Rt. hived off its former “Ellátási Üzem” (“supply plant”) and established TVK HIX Kft. as w wholesaler and
retailer of TVK’s products. The company’s seat is in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. TVK Rt. recognised an impairment
loss of HUF 24 million at the end of 2001. Thus the book value of the investment as of 31 December 2001 was
HUF 86 million. The investment was sold by TVK Rt. in May 2002.
TVK Rt. acquired a 67% share in the Romanian Plastico S.A. in October 1997. In 1998, TVK Rt. raised the capital of the company by a total of HUF 373 million paid in several instalments. TVK Rt. also acquired additional
participation in Plastico S.A., as a result of which TVK Rt’s share in Plastico S.A. increased to 91%. Plastico S.A.
is located in Sepsiszentgyörgy, Romania, and processes and sells plastic products. At the end of 2000, TVK Rt.
recognised an impairment loss of HUF 412 million on the fixed assets based on the best binding offer from a
potential buyer. The investment was sold by TVK Rt. in May 2002. (See Note 27.1)
TVK MED Egészségügyi Kft. was founded to provide healthcare and medical services to TVK’s employees. The
company’s capital of HUF 18 million consisting of cash contribution and contribution in kind. The investment
was sold by TVK Rt. in December 2002.
TVK Ecocenter Kft. was established by TVK Rt., Interservice Group Kft. and Zuter Kft. (40%) and by private
persons with initial issued capital of HUF 10 million. In April 1999, TVK Rt. purchased ZUTER Kft’s stake for HUF
35 million thereby increasing its ownership to 91%. In June 1999, TVK’s Board decided to raise the capital of the
company by HUF 540 million and TVK’s participation increased to 99.83%. TVK Rt. recognised impairment losses
on the investment: HUF 150 million in 1999, HUF 67 million in 2000 and HUF 363 million in 2001. Thus the value
of the of the investment decreased to 0. The company is located in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. Its main activities are
recycling, utilisation and elimination of waste materials. The investment was sold by TVK Rt. in July 2002.
TVK Remat Kft. recycles waste and scrapped materials resulting from TVK Rt’s operations. TVK raised the capital of the company by HUF 121 million in 1998, and by HUF 345 million in 1999. As a result, TVK Rt’s investment
in the company increased to 98.71%. The company’s seat is in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. As of 31 December 2001
TVK Rt. recognised an impairment loss of HUF 427 million on the investment based on the best binding offer
from a potential buyer. The investment was sold by TVK Rt. in April 2002.
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Flexofol Termelő és Kereskedelmi Kft. was founded on 23 August 1999. During 2000, TVK Rt. contributed fixed assets in a total of HUF 2,308 million. The company started production and commercial operations on 1 April
2000. The company’s seat is in Tiszaújváros, Hungary, and manufactures plastic packaging materials, plastic
foil and other plastic products, and is a wholesaler of chemical and other products. At the end of 2000, TVK Rt.
recognised HUF 1,566 million impairment loss on the investment and then HUF 384 million in 2001. Thus the net
book value of the investment as of December 2001 was HUF 361 million. The company’s production equipment
had been sold and, further to a resolution of the members, the company was merged into TVK Ingatlankezelő
Kft, a 100% subsidiary of TVK Rt., in June 2002.

TVK GROUP l Notes to the IFRS consolidated financial statements l as at 31 December 2002 and 2001
(figures in HUF millions unless indicated otherwise)

ASSOCIATES:
TVK Rt. established Borsod-Flex Kft. on 23 August, 1999. In 2001, the company’s name was changed to TVK
Erőmű Kft. The company’s main activities are electricity production and distribution. In October 2001, TVK Rt.
sold its investment of 74% to Észak Magyarországi Áramszolgáltató Rt. In December 2001, the company’s capital was increased by HUF 100 million by the owners according to their stakes in the investment. The capital
increase was registered at the Court of Registration in February 2002. In 2002, the company’s capital was increased by HUF 1,715 million according to the stakes of the owners in the investment. The increase was registered
at the Court of Registration in July 2002. The construction of the power plant started in 2002 and is expected to
start operations at the end of 2003.
Tűzoltó és Műszaki Mentő Kft. was founded by TVK Rt. and by other companies on the site in 1995 with a
capital of HUF 1 million. TVK Rt. owns 30% of the company’s capital. In 1998, further to the amendment of the
companies act, the company’s capital was increased to HUF 3 million from retained earnings. The company’s
activities include: fire prevention, technical rescue and technical supervision.
VIBA-TVK Kft. is a company formed in 1993 by TVK Rt. and VIBA-Italy to produce polymer dye. The company’s
seat is in Tiszaújváros, Hungary. The raw materials are supplied by TVK Rt. In 2002, TVK Rt. recognised an impairment loss of HUF 20 million thus the value of the investment as of 31 December 2002 was HUF 82 million.
Tiszai Hulladékégető Kft. was founded in 1996 by TVK Rt. (49.96%) and Lobbe N.V., Belgium (50.04%). In 2002,
TVK Rt. recognised a HUF 5 million impairment loss on the investment thus its value was HUF 8 million as of 31
December 2002. At present, the company is dormant.

LONG-TERM SECURITIES:
Long-term securities include bonds issued by CIB Értékpapír Rt. and type 2013/C government bonds maturing
in May 2004 and December 2013 and yield at floating interest rates. TVK Rt. has established foundations for various purposes. All the interest earned on the type 2013/C government bonds is donated to these foundations.
The bonds are held to maturity.
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10.

TANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

The Group’s tangible assets as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Land and
buildings

Technical
equipment,
vehicles

33,912

81,462

14,528

1,746

131,648

0

0

0

6,710

6,710

1,208

3,343

1,502

(6,053)

0

0

0

24

0

24

48

80

354

0

482

(95)

(79)

(94)

0

(268)

0

0

(14)

0

(14)

(12)

(1,752)

(808)

(84)

(2,656)

(12,933)

(26,284)

(1,080)

0

(40,297)

(82)

(93)

0

(37)

(212)

22,046

56,677

14,412

2,282

95,417

0

0

0

16,622

16,622

976

3,254

934

(5,164)

0

Surplus

0

0

1

0

1

Other increase

0

1

0

1

2

(60)

(147)

(191)

0

(398)

(756)

(805)

(379)

(42)

(1,982)

0

(5)

(526)

0

(531)

22,206

58,975

14,251

13,699

109,131

GROSS VALUE:
Opening balance as of
1 January 2001
Additions
Capitalisation
Contribution in kind
Other increase*
Scrapping, write-off
Contrib. free of charge
Sale
Companies excluded
from the consolidation
Other disposals
Closing balance as of
31 December 2001
Additions
Capitalisation

Scrapping, write-off
Sale
Other disposals*
Closing balance as of
31 December 2002

Other
equipment
and vehicles

Capital
projects

Total
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* Spare parts, disclosed among other equipment and vehicles, increased by HUF 208 million in 2001 and decreased by HUF 526 million in 2002.
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Land and
buildings

Technical
equipment,
vehicles

Opening balance as of
1 January 2001

5,420

40,028

5,669

0

51,117

Ordinary depreciation

831

5,189

2,657

0

8,677

Extraordinary epreciation

232

43

206

0

481

0

0

146

0

146

(96)

(80)

(92)

0

(268)

Sale

0

(475)

(622)

0

(1,097)

Assets contributed free of
charge

0

0

(11)

0

(11)

Companies excluded from
the consolidation

(1,866)

(18,758)

(527)

0

(21,151)

0

(59)

0

0

(59)

Closing balance as of
31 December 2001

4,521

25,888

7,426

0

37,835

Ordinary depreciation

815

5,204

1,517

0

7,536

81

29

12

0

122

(61)

(146)

(191)

0

(398)

0

0

(325)

0

(325)

(57)

(234)

(1,275)

0

(1,566)

5,299

30,741

7,164

0

43,204

Land and
buildings

Technical
equipment,
vehicles

Closing balance as of
31 December 2001

17,525

30,789

6,986

2,282

57,582

Closing balance as of
31 December 2002

16,907

28,234

7,087

13,699

65,927

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION:

Other increases
Scrapping, write-off

Other decrease

Extraordinary epreciation
Scrapping
Reversed impairment of
spare parts
Sale
Closing balance as of
31 December 2002

NET VALUE:

Other
equipment
and vehicles

Other
equipment
and vehicles

Capital
projects

Capital
projects

Total

Total

During 2001 the Company reviewed the useful lives of certain assets based on technical reasons and industry
benchmark data. As a result of the review, useful life of the PP-4 plant was changed from 7 to 15 years and that
of integrated production control systems from 3 to 7 years. The impact of the review on depreciation charge
was HUF 1,489 million and HUF 801 million, respectively.
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Other fixed assets include construction-in-progress, capital spares and welfare assets. In 2002, the Company
reviewed and qualified spare parts. Spare parts, whose production is time consuming but their shortage would
threaten continuous operations were classified in the strategic and security category. No impairment was calculated for these spare parts .
Spare parts, disclosed among other fixed assets are disclosed at cost less impairment loss of HUF 293 million
recognised in 2002 and HUF 618 million recognised in 2001. The reversal of spare parts is disclosed among other
operating revenues (see note 23).
None of the assets was pledged as of 31 December 2002.

11.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

The Group’s intangible assets as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Property
rights

Goodwill

Software

209

586

3,964

132

4,891

Additions

0

0

269

33

302

Other increase

0

0

12

0

12

Scrapping

0

0

(13)

0

(13)

Disposals

0

0

(43)

0

(43)

(209)

(586)

(255)

0

(1,050)

0

0

3,934

165

4,099

0

205

1,426

0

1,631

Scrapping

0

0

(35)

0

(35)

Disposal

0

0

(35)

(165)

(200)

Other decrease

0

0

(2)

0

(2)

Closing balance as of
31 December 2002

0

205

5,288

0

5,493

COST:

Opening balance as of
1 January 2001

Companies excluded
from the consolidation
Closing balance as of
31 December 2001
Additions
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The capitalisation of intangible assets is presented in note 21.

Capitalised
development

Total
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ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION:
Opening balance as of 1
January 2001

Property
rights

Goodwill

Software

Capitalised
development

Total

203

586

1,003

0

1,792

(203)

(586)

(77)

0

(866)

Ordinary amortisation

0

0

407

3

410

Extraordinary amortisation

0

0

14

162

176

Scrapping

0

0

(7)

0

(7)

Disposal

0

0

(32)

0

(32)

Closing balance as of
1 January 2001

0

0

1,308

165

1,473

0

27

426

0

Scrapping

0

0

(35)

0

(35)

Disposal

0

0

(35)

(165)

(200)

Closing balance as of 1
January 2002

0

27

1,664

0

1,691

NET BOOK VALUE
on 31 December 2001

0

0

2,626

0

2,626

NET BOOK VALUE
on 31 December 2002

0

178

3,624

0

3,802

Companies excluded from the
consolidation

Ordinary amortisation

12.

453

RECEIVABLES, NET

The Group’s receivables as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002
Loan to Plastico S.A.*

2001

774

0

2,376

49

101

96

Impairment of loan granted to Plastico S.A.

(364)

0

Total

2,887

145

Prepayments for capital projects
Other

* TVK Rt. sold its shares in Plastico S.A. in 2002. Accordingly, the loan receivable from Plastico S.A. is disclosed
among other long-term loans as of 31 December 2002. The receivable amount of HUF 774 million includes HUF
130 million foreign exchange loss incurred upon the year-end revaluation of the loan. A HUF 7 million of bills of
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exchange receivable and the related HUF 4 million impairment loss has been disclosed among other current
assets in relation to a loan to Plastico S.A. plus the current repayable amount of HUF 81 million and the related
HUF 44 million impairment loss. The amount of impairment loss is based a valuation of the property that serves
as security for the loan. (See note 8.)

13.

EMPLOYEE SHARES

Of the total number of 606,472 employee shares issued, in 1999, the Company held 103,737 (0.4% of the total
shares) redeemed at face value.
In 2000 the Company redeemed 279,432 employee shares at face value, of which 21,314 shares were withdrawn in July 2000 based on the decision of the shareholders. On 31 December 2000, the Company redeemed
361,855 employee shares.
In 2001 the Company redeemed 77,994 employee shares at face value. Further to the resolution of the
shareholders, 396,158 employee shares were withdrawn and the issued capital was decreased. The Company
redeemed 43,691 employee shares by 31 December 2001.
In 2002, the Company redeemed 112,032 employee shares at face value. On 31 December 2002, the Company
held 155,723 redeemed employee shares.
Redeemed employee shares are classified as capital decrease according to IFRS.

14.

CREDITORS

The Group’s creditors as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002

2001
31 december

Domestic creditors

8,118

6,624

Import creditors

3,454

2,773

Suppliers

1,603

788

13,175

10,185

Total
72

Most of the HUF 2,990 million increase in creditors from 2001 to 2002 was due to increases in suppliers to
strategic projects and to an increase in the prices of raw materials acquired from creditors.
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15.

SHORT-TERM LOANS

The Group’s short-term loans as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
Bank and loan

Balance

Interest rate

Repayable by

EURIBOR +0.5%

31 July 2005

floating

31 Dec 2003

floating

overdraft

TVK Rt.
Current portion of syndicated loan
(DEM 64 million)*
Overdraft

7,709
2
7,711

Other subsidiaries
TVK Italia overdraft
(EUR 5,796 thousand)

1,367

HVB Bank (Hungary)– InterChemol
(EUR 969 thousand)

229

4.3%

overdraft

HypoVereinsbank, London loans to TVK UK
(GBP 551 thousand)

200

4.625%

overdraft

9.78%

overdraft

Budapest Bank Rt.- Inno Comp Kft.

4

Other

7

Total short-term loans

9,518

* The Company signed a DEM 260 million loan agreement with a bank consortium led by OTP Bank Rt. in July
1998. The loan has a floating interest rate at EURIBOR+ 0.5%. The loan will be drawn and repaid in several instalments. The last instalment is due on 31 July 2005. According to the Company’s decision, the entire outstanding
loan at the end of 2002 was repaid on 31 January 2003, therefore the loan has been reclassified to current liabilities. A forward contract of EUR 10 million made for part of the early repayment yielded HUF 30 million foreign
exchange gain upon its maturity in 2003. This reduced current liabilities in 2002. Overall, the early repayment
caused HUF 264 million losses to the Company as of 31 January 2003.
Both long-term and short-term loan agreements are based on the pari passu and negative pledge principles.
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The Group’s short-term loans as of 31 December 2001 were as follows:
Bank and loan

Balance

Interest rate

Repayable by

EURIBOR +0.5%

31 July 2002

floating

31 Dec 2002

1,626

floating

overdraft

Creditanstalt loan to TVK UK
(GBP 1 million)

408

floating

overdraft

Creditanstalt Budapest– InterChemol
(EUR 1,017 thousand)

251

4.9%

31 Oct 2002

Commerzbank AG– InterChemol
(EUR 350 thousand)

86

4.9%

31 Dec 2002

Budapest Bank Rt.- Flexofol Kft.

12

floating

overdraft

Other

54

TVK Rt.
Current portion of syndicated loan
(DEM 52 million)*
Overdraft

6,549
20
6,569

Other subsidiaries
TVK Italia overdraft
(ITL 12,783 million)

Total short-term loans

16.

9,006

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s other current liabilities as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002
2001
31 december

74

Accrued expenses

2,410

3,071

Environmental provision (see note 27.4)*

1,071

800

Customs duty

631

224

Payroll and related taxes

322

304

Provision for liabilities

105

159

Dividends payable**

76

79

Provision for default fine

76

76

Other

38

149

4,729

4,862

Total

* As of 31 December 2002 the environmental provision (HUF 3,787 million) reflects the best management
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estimate of the net present value of expected clean-up costs. The long-term part (HUF 2,716 million) and shortterm part of the provision (HUF 1,071 million) and related amounts are disclosed in note 18.
** Dividend payable includes unpaid dividends approved in prior years.

17.

LONG-TERM LOANS

The Group’s long-term loans as of 31 December 2002 were as follows:
Bank and loan

Balance

Interest rate

Repayable by

Syndicated foreign exchange loan
(EUR 22.9 million)*

3,787

EURIBOR+0.275%

30 Sept 2015

Syndicated foreign exchange loan
(EUR 10 million)*

2,064

EURIBOR+0.75%

10 March 2009

12 months
EURIBOR+0%

1 Dec 2004

Kereskedelmi és Hitel BankInno-Comp Kft. (EUR 825 thousand)

195
6,046

* In 2002, syndicated loan agreements were signed with a bank consortium led by Deutsche Bank AG to finance strategic projects in a total of EUR 280 million.
Both loan-agreements have floating interest rates: the EUR 130 million loan matures in 7 years, and bears
an interest at EURIBOR+0.75%; the EUR 150 million loan matures in 13 years and bears an interest at EURIBOR+0.275%.
The latter loan was drawn by the Company with a guarantee by the German government and is to be used
exclusively for financing the new Olefin Plant to be built by LINDE AG. A total of EUR 32.9 million was drawn
down from the two loans by the end of the year. The value of loan presented in the table above is reduced by
the costs in amount of HUF 1,938 million.
Both long-term and short-term loan agreements are based on the pari passu and negative pledge principles.

The Group’s long-term bank loans as of 31 December 2001 were as follows:
Bank and loan
Syndicated foreign exchange loan
(DEM 131 million)

Balance
16,499

Interest rate

Repayable by

EURIBOR +0.5%

31 July 2005

Budapest Bank Rt.Inno-Comp Kft.

45

BUBOR+1.5%

1 June 2003

EBRDPhareTVK-Remat Kft.

20

Central bank base rate+
71.43 % of variance

5 July 2005

5

interest free

31 Dec 2007

Ministry of Economics –
TVK-Ecocenter Kft.

16,569
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18.

PROVISIONS FOR EXPECTED LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

The Group’s provisions for expected liabilities and charges as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Environmental*

Structural
development

1,562

Balance as of 1 January 2001
Provision made during the year and
revision of previous estimate

0

737

15

Other

Total

1,598

3,160

244

996

Provision used during the year

(299)

0

(1,522)

(1,821)

Balance as of 31 December 2001

2,000

15

320

2,335

Provision made during the year and
revision of previous estimate

2,101

86

20

2,207

Provision used during the year*

(314)

(15)

(188)

(517)

Balance as of 31 December 2002

3,787

86

152

4,025

800

15

263

1,078

Non-current portion 2001

1,200

0

57

1,257

Current portion 2002

1,071

86

95

1,252

Non-current portion 2002

2,716

0

57

2,773

Current portion 2001

*Completion was approved only in part for 2002, the remaining part is due to be completed in 2003. The
environmental provision is expected to be increased further to an environment survey to be made. (see notes
27.4)

19.

SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital as of 31 December 2002 was as follows:
Number
of shares
(thousand)

Face value
(HUF)

14,225

1,010

14,367

58.6

6,352

1,010

6,416

26.2

Employees

33

1,000

33

0.1

Domestic private investors

48

1,010

48

0.2

3,610

1,010

3,646

14.9

24,510

100.0

Shareholder
76

Domestic institutional investors
International institutional investors

Unregistered investors *
Total

24,268

Total
(HUF million)

Shareholding %

* Unregistered investors represent shares not registered in the Share Register as of 31 December 2002.
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Shareholders with a shareholding above 5% registered in the Share Register as of 31 December 2002:
Shareholder

Shareholding %

Magyar Olaj és Gázipari Rt.

34.48

CE Oil & Gas Beteiligung und Verwaltung AG

15.99

BorsodChem Rt.

15.40

Matura Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

9.83

Magyar Külkereskedelmi Bank Rt.

8.02

Share capital by type of shares as of 31 December 2002:
Type of share

Share capital
(thousand Ft)

Number of shares

Ordinary shares representing equal and equivalent rights of
members (face value of one share is HUF 1,010)
Employee shares representing rights equal to ordinary
shares (face value of one share is HUF 1,000)
Total

24,234,843

24,477,191

33,277

33,277

24,268,120*

24,510,468

Share capital as recorded by the Court of Registration on 31 December 2002 equals the total of shares issued
and there is no unpaid share capital.
*The total number of shares of 24,268,120 does not include 155,723 treasury shares redeemed from employees in 2002.

Share capital as of 31 December 2001 was as follows:

Shareholder
Domestic institutional
investors
International institutional
investors
Employees
Domestic private investors
Unregistered investors *
Total

Number of
shares
(thousand)

Face value
(HUF)

Total
(HUF million)

Shareholding %

14,705

1,010

14,852

60.3

7,984

1,010

8,064

32.7

145

1,000

145

0.6

59

1,010

60

0.3

1,487

1,010

1,502

6.1

24,623

100.0

77

24,380

* Unregistered investors represent shares not registered in the Share Register as of 31 December 2001.
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Shareholders with a shareholding above 5% registered in the Share Register as of 31 December 2001:
Shareholder

Shareholding %

Magyar Olaj és Gázipari Rt.

33.03

CE Oil & Gas Beteiligung und Verwaltung AG

15.99

BorsodChem Rt.

15.40

Matura Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

9.83

Magyar Külkereskedelmi Bank Rt.

8.02

Share capital by type of shares as of 31 December 2001:
Type of share

Number of shares

Share capital
(thousand Ft)

Ordinary shares representing equal and equivalent rights of
members (face value of one share is HUF 1,010)

24,234,843

24,477,191

Employee shares representing rights equal to ordinary
shares (face value of one share is HUF 1,000)

145,309

145,309

24,380,152*

24,622,500

Total

Share capital as recorded by the Court of Registration on 31 December 2001 equals the total of shares issued
and there is no unpaid share capital.
*The total number of shares of 24,268,120 does not include 43,691 treasury shares redeemed from employees
in 2002.

20.

RETAINED EARNINGS

The distributable earnings of the Company are limited to the profits before dividends and retained earnings
determined by the audited statutory stand-alone financial statements prepared in accordance with the
Hungarian accounting law as of 31 December 2002.
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21.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Net sales as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002

2001

Export sales

73,248

84,766

Domestic sales

61,876

70,365

135,124

155,131

Total

The Group’s sales per geographical segment as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002

2001

Germany
Italy
Poland
United Kingdom
Turkey
France
Austria
Czech Republic
Slovakia
Yugoslavia
Romania
Slovenia
Greece
Ukraine
Switzerland
Holland
Croatia
Finland
Sweden
Lithuania
Spain
Cyprus
Bulgaria
Norway
Other
Europe

15,681
11,821
9,651
5,230
4,008
3,518
2,617
2,671
1,948
1,948
1,691
1,450
1,127
849
809
711
310
294
281
242
199
189
189
111
1,397
68,941

18,510
16,505
9,554
7,313
0
5,519
4,591
2,217
944
308
538
601
495
220
1,669
8
0
328
119
113
66
1,172
295
142
6,242
77,469

Africa
America
Asia
-Bonus
Total

460
1,968
2,613
(734)
73,248

725
3,747
3,761
(936)
84,766
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Groups sales, cost of sales and gross margin per operational segment for the year ended 2002 were as follows:

Division

Sales

Direct cost of sales

Gross margin

Polypropylene

49,842

40,729

9,113

HDPE

31,872

29,259

2,613

LDPE

19,121

16,812

2,309

Olefin

29,035

27,287

1,748

Plastic

113

96

17

6,972

4,559

2,413

(1,831)

0

(1,831)

135,124

118,742

16,382

Other
- Bonus
Total

Profitability dropped in the year as a whole as oil price increases surpassed increases in polymer prices.
Group sales, cost of sales and gross margin per operational segment for the year ended 2001 were as follows:
Division

Sales

Direct cost of sales

Gross margin

Polypropylene

49,939

40,219

9,720

HDPE

37,594

31,559

6,035

LDPE

21,576

18,018

3,558

Olefin

34,950

31,966

2,984

Plastic

992

1,067

(75)

Other

12,264

10,221

2,043

- Bonus

(2,184)

0

(2,184)

Total

155,131

133,050

22,081

Significant intersegment sales:
80

Sales of the Olefin division to LDPE, HDPE and Polypropylene divisions amounted to HUF 55,384 million and
HUF 62,969 million in 2002 and 2001 respectively.
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The gross book value of tangible fixed assets and accumulated depreciation per operational segment as of
31 December 2002 were as follows:
Division

Gross book value

Accumulated
depreciation

Net book value

Olefin

35,863

14,285

21,578

Polypropylene

32,105

10,905

21,200

Polyethylene

14,994

9,119

5,875

Other

26,169

8,895

17,274

Total

109,131

43,204

65,927

The gross book value of tangible fixed assets and accumulated depreciation per operational segment as of
31 December 2001 were as follows:
Division

Accumulated
depreciation

Gross book value

Net book value

Polypropylene

29,970

8,859

21,111

Olefin

27,259

11,522

15,737

Polyethylene

12,856

8,727

4,129

Plastic

1,518

701

817

Other

23,814

8,026

15,788

Total

95,417

37,835

57,582

Capitalisations on a Group level in 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002
Division
Olefin Division

capitalised value

2001

of which: tangibles

capitalised value

of which:
intangibles

686

11

2,359

27

PP Division

2,429

22

880

0

PE Division

727

0

189

2

Other

1,613

258

2,959

305

Total:

5,455

291

6,387

334
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22.

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS

In 2001 the Company sold its investment in Unterland A.G, Biafol Kft, HelioPlast Kft. and Tisza-Form Kft. and in
2002 in Plastico S.A. In 2002, after selling its technical equipment, Flexofol Kft. was merged into TVK-Ingatlankezelő Kft.
Important financial information of the plastic divisions for the years 2002 and 2001 is as follows:
2002

2001*

Fixed assets

0

1,393

Current assets

0

749

Total assets

0

2,142

Total liabilities

0

1,481

Sales

0

991

Direct costs of sales

0

(1,431)

Indirect cost of sales

0

(296)

Operating loss

0

(736)

Other revenues

0

198

Other expenditures

0

(733)

Loss before tax and interest

0

(1,271)

Balanced sheet:

Income statement:

* Figures for 2001 include the figures of Plastico S.A. and Flexofol Kft.
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23.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating Group income as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002
Reversed impairment loss of tangible assets *

2001
704

0

Gain on sale of tangible assets

92

153

Damages received

33

175

Collected litigated receivables

0

717

Gain on consolidated subsidiary

0

245

Income from damages

0

77

Customs duties reclaimed

0

75

298

154

1,127

1,596

Other
Total

* The amount for 2002 includes the reversed impairment loss of slow moving spare parts and the write-off of
the net assets of subsidiaries disposed of.

24.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The Group’s other operating expenses as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
2002

2001

Environmental expenses

2,111

744

Insurance premium

1,050

721

Rents, leasing

629

517

Foreign exchange loss on receivables and payables

553

1,358

Local taxes

537

685

Consulting fees

518

594

Cost of damages

422

372

Cost of administrative, financial and investment services

393

295

Impairment of receivables, net

389

0

Property protection and fire prevention

328

312

Public sanitation

304

248

PR and promotion

241

248

Donations

167

202

Elimination of waste

128

136

0

62

803

607

8,573

7,101

Loss on capital withdrawal
Other
Total
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25.

FINANCIAL INCOME, NET

The Group’s net financial income as of 31 December 2002 and 2001 was as follows:
2002

2001

Financial income
Gain on securities sold

2,194

1,577

Interest received

459

292

Foreign exchange gains*

324

1,462

Gain on investments

119

573

2

209

3,098

4,113

(880)

(1,683)

(38)

(1,079)

0

0

(10)

0

Total

(928)

(2,762)

Financial income, net

2,170

1,351

Dividends received
Total
Financial expense
Interest paid
Loss on securities investments
Foreign exchange losses*
Other financial expenditures

* Foreign exchange gains and losses presented net.

26.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions are carried out on an arm’s length basis.
MOL Rt. has been TVK Rt’s main raw material supplier and buyer of TVK products ever since the Company
was established. Deliveries are based on a long-term contract signed in 1993 and valid until 2003. In 2001, the
Company signed a long-term contract on supplying raw materials with MOLTRADE-Mineralimpex Rt. for the
period between 2004 and 2013.
84

TVK Rt. has also been the ethylene supplier to BorsodChem Rt. for decades. The currently effective contract
was signed in 1993 and is in force until 2003. In 2002, the Company signed a long-term ethylene supplying contract valid for the period between 2004 and 2013.
The existing supply contracts between TVK and the above mentioned companies, new contracts and changes
in contract terms are summarised below.
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26.1. Contract with the MOL Group
Based on the existing contract between the Company and MOLTRADE Rt. valid until 2003, in 2003 MOLTRADE
Rt. will deliver approximately 750 thousand tons of naphtha, 150 thousand tons of gasoline and 80 thousand
tons of fluid gas to TVK and will repurchase 200 thousand tons of TVK’s by-products.
In order to meet the increased need for propylene due to the PP-4 plant, which can not be satisfied from
TVK`s own production, TVK signed a contract on purchase of propylene for 2000-2002 with MOLChem Kft.
(subsidiary of MOL Rt.). In the three-year period, MOLChem will deliver 160 thousand tons of propylene. The
67.5 thousand tons due to be delivered in 2002 covers a significant portion of the needs of the polypropylene
production facilities (280 thousand tons per annum).
With regard to its strategic investment plan, the Company signed a long-term delivery contract with MOLTRADE Mineralimpex Rt. on raw material supply (naphtha and gasoline) for the period between 2004 and 2013.
The total amount of raw material to be delivered (1,850-2,000 kilotons) was stated in the contract, from which
at least 57% will be naphtha and the remaining will be other light raw materials.
During 2002 TVK purchased raw materials in a total of HUF 69,700 million from the MOL Group and sold byproducts to the MOL Group in the value of HUF 11,974 million. As of 31 December 2002 receivables from the
MOL Group amounted to HUF 1,271 million and payables totalled HUF 7,999 million.

26.2. Contract for ethylene supply to BorsodChem Rt.
In 1993 TVK Rt. signed a long-term ethylene supply agreement with BorsodChem, a PVC-producing company.
According to the contract, TVK Rt. is obliged to deliver a minimum of 66 thousand tons of ethylene annually until
2003.
In accordance with its long-term strategic plans, TVK Rt. entered into negotiations with BorsodChem Rt. concerning the conditions of future ethylene need and supply, as a result of which the parties signed on a long-term
ethylene supply contract for the period between 2004 and 2013. The Company will deliver ethylene between
140-155 thousand tons annually.
As the ethylene produced by TVK Rt. is fully used in the polyolefin production, the Company used to import
varying quantities of ethylene from Oriana, Ukraine, in order to meet its obligation to supply BorsodChem. In
2002, ethylene imports amounted to 37.2 thousand tons and the Company supplied BorsodChem Rt. with 45.8
thousand tons from its own production. This means that the Company over-performed its contractual obligation towards BorsodChem Rt. by 7 thousand tons. In accordance with the ethylene supply contract signed in
2002, TVK’s obligation would have been 76 thousand tons.
During 2002 TVK sold self-produced and purchased ethylene to BorsodChem in a total of HUF 10,781 million.
As of 31 December 2002 TVK’s receivable from and payables to BorsodChem amounted to HUF 1,167 million
and HUF 14 million, respectively.
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27.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

27.1. Sale of plastics operations
In 2001 the Company sold its investment in Helioplast Kft., Unterland A.G, Tisza-Form Kft. and in Biafol. During
2001, the technical equipment of Flexofol Kft. were sold and, in June 2002, in accordance with the resolution of
the Kft’s shareholders, the company was merged into TVK-Ingatlankezelő Kft., 100% owned by the Company.
The contract on the acquisition of Unterland A.G. includes a clause whereas, in the period from 2003 to 2005,
TVK is entitled to part of the future audited after tax profits of Unterland A.G. apportioned to its previous share
in Unterland A.G. These contingent future gains were not considered upon the impairment of the investment
as of 31 December 2000.
The sale of TVK’s share in Plastico S.A. was completed in 2002. In 1997-1998, TVK acquired its 90.87% share
in Plastico through purchase (13.73%) and through capital increase (77.14%). Since the purchase of 13.73% of
shares was only registered in the Share Register of Plastico and at the Court of Registration, but it had not been
registered with the Central Romanian Registration Office (Regisco) because of law interpretation differences
and clerical errors, only the shares above 13.73% could be offered for sale by the Company. On 28 February
2002 the shareholder’s meeting of Plastico S.A. acknowledged the cancellation of the original purchase contract
made among TVK Rt, PAS (association of employees and management) and a private person regarding on the
purchase of 13.73% of the shares. Thus TVK’s shareholding changed to 77.14%. At the same time, PAS committed itself to sell these shares on the stock exchange and transfer the consideration received to TVK Rt. In April
2002, TVK Rt. signed an agreement with PAS (who owned 9.83% of the remaining 13.73% shareholding) on selling its shares to the new shareholder, Plastico S.A. In order to transfer the remaining app. 3.9% stake, the TVK
Rt. started legal proceedings against the private person.

27.2. Investments sold in 2002
Environmental technology companies
Further to the decision of the Board of Directors, TVK Rt. commissioned Deloitte & Touche to act as advisor in
the sale of shares in Ecomissio Kft. (100%), in Remat Kft. (98.7%) and in Ecocenter (99.8%). At the end of 2001,
TVK Rt. recognised HUF 887 million impairment loss on these investments based on the best binding offer from
a potential buyer. All environmental technology companies were sold in 2002. (see note 9)
Other investments
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In 2002 the Company sold 100% of its share in TVK MED Egészségügyi Kft. and in TVK HIX Kft. (see note 9)

27.3. Legal disputes over investments in securities
In 1998, a former executive of the Company misused her authority and instructed a brokerage firm (Quantum
Bróker Rt.) to invest HUF 1,000 million in an equity portfolio and financial instruments instead of treasury bills
as approved by TVK Rt’s management. The Company disputes the proper authorisation of the transaction and
believes that the broker firm did not perform its duty with proper professional care and stewardship, and the
Company reported the case to the police in October 1998. The police took custody of the portfolio of shares and
delivered them to TVK Rt.
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In the lawsuit against Quantum Bróker, the Supreme Court rejected TVK’s appeal, therefore the Company
wrote off its receivable amounting to HUF 569 million from Quantum Bróker in 2001.
In 2002, TVK Rt. had pecuniary demands of app. HUF 450 million at the Metropolitan Court against Insider Kft.,
as the related criminal proceedings revealed that Insider Kft. could be connected to the damage caused to TVK
Rt. It is not reasonable to expect the damages be returned as the result of the proceedings.
In 1998, the Company entered into a portfolio management contract in an amount of HUF 500 million with
BudaCash Brókerház Rt. The contract included a yield guarantee. In October 1998, when the contract expired,
BudaCash failed to pay back the nominal value as increased by the guaranteed yield and disputed TVK’s interpretation of the contract regarding the guarantee. TVK Rt. started legal proceedings. In 1998, TVK Rt. received
HUF 160 million of the initial amount and HUF 34 million of the yield and wrote off the remaining part of the
initial investment (HUF 340 million). TVK Rt. upholds its claim against the brokers. According to the final judgement of the Supreme Court, BudaCash Brókerház paid all its debts and related interest (counted from 1 December 1998) in 2001. In 2002, the Court rejected the brokers’ application for a revision of the case.

27.4.

Environment protection

In 1996, before the privatisation of TVK Rt., an environmental audit of the Company had been carried out.
Based on the findings of the audit, the clean up of the contaminated soil in the area of Olefin plant was started.
The clean up work on the area of the Paint Factory continued and clean-up of contaminated soil and water
on other areas started in 1999 on which the Company contracted with Elgoscar Kft. Based on the findings of
this environmental audit, the Company recorded a provision for the estimated total environmental expenses
to clean up existing pollution in 1996. As a full scale assessment of the Company’s potential environmental
obligation is still outstanding, the amount of provision has been updated every year based on the results of the
original study, the actual clean up work performed and on management estimation. The amount of provision
as of 31 December 2001 was HUF 2,000 million. Management regularly assesses the measures and/or investments necessary in order to meet new Hungarian environmental requirements issued based on applicable EU
directives.
In connection with this, an assessment of underground pollution of areas under decontamination took place
in the second half of 2002.
Further to the findings of an environmental review carried out by a third party in the second half of 2002,
HUF 2,101 million additional environmental provision was made on grounds of expected extra clean-up costs. In
accordance with IFRS, the amount of provision covers only those expenses that can be assessed and properly
quantified at the time of reporting. It is probable that additional costs will incur during the decontamination
work that needs to be completed by 2010, but these costs cannot be presently estimated. In 2003 the Company
carries out further investigations in order to get sufficient information about extention of environmental pollution and determine the most applicable technology for environmental remediation.
The company continuously analyses the progress of the clean-up process and has been making significant
financial and intellectual efforts in order to comply with new requirements by eliminating environmental problems inherited from the past.
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27.5.

Legal dispute with DEBO EURO-CHEMICAL Kft.

DEBO EURO-CHEMICAL Kft. (seated in Kunszentmiklós) filed a legal claim with Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén County
Court against TVK Rt. for HUF 93 million damages plus related interest on grounds of non-compliance with
contractual obligations. In its part-decision, the county court confirmed that TVK Rt. had caused damage as it
failed to deliver packaging for washing powder by the time in the quality laid down in the underlying contract.
The amount of the claim is the lost profit of the plaintiff.
TVK Rt. appealed against the decision at the Supreme Court, which, however, rejected the appeal. The parties
continued disputing the amount of damage at the Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén County Court involving experts into
the case. Based on the findings of experts, the Court ordered the Company to pay damages more than HUF 2.7
million. The plaintiff appealed against the judgement and demands damages of HUF 9.6 million.
The Company has not set up a provision for this contingency in the accompanying financial statements.

28.

STRATEGIC PROJECTS IN 2002

On 26 March 2002, the Board approved the strategic project programme and thus all projects could be
started with a planning process. Feasibility studies has been made which were approved by the Steering Committee. On 25 September 2002, a ground stone ceremony was held. The insurance policy for the construction
works was also finalised. The budget of the strategic projects is EUR 430 million.
Olefin-2 project: A foreign trade contract was signed with Linde on the second phase of the Olefin-2 project.
The contract became effective on 30 April 2002 when the underlying project financing contract was also signed.
This was followed by detailed technology planning.
The project was approved by the Environmental Authority that also approved the Company’s Safety Report.
All relevant construction permits and authorisations have also been obtained. Construction started on 1 August
with the ground works of the cracking furnaces and the structures of he control building.
PE-4 project: On 13 May 2002, a foreign trade and licence agreement was signed for the construction of the
PE-4 polyethylene plant with MES and MCI. The contract became effective on 15 July 2002.
The project’s detailed environment impact study was approved by the regional environmental authority. A
project’s Safety Report was then submitted to the authority.
PP-4 intensification project: Unlike the other strategic projects, the Polypropylene-4 intensification project
was authorised by the Board already in 2001 so the two-phase project could be started.
In the first phase, the process control system was developed, while in the second phase, the production and
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logistic capacity were increased. On 12 December 2002, the completed project was commissioned and duly
licensed by the relevant authorities.
Since the project, the operation of the plant has been stable at a capacity increased by 30% (182 kilotons/year).
Off-plant facilities: The project includes the building of facilities that are the necessary for the operations of the
new and old plants. Accordingly, it consists of six sub-projects: extension of the ethylene storage capacity; extension of the inter-plant product and service pipeline; road and public utilities building; modernisation of the sewage cleaner; extension of the electricity network and improvement of the pipeline among the storage tanks.
An agreement was signed, effective from 1 July, with the German Uhde GmbH for the building an ethylene tank.
Field works of pipeline among the storage tanks and road and public facilities building have begun.
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29.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

The Group’s earnings per share based on consolidated information for 2002 and 2001 are as follows:
2002
IFRS net profit (HUF millions)
Average number of shares during the period
Undiluted EPS (HUF 1,010 face value)

2001

1,819

8,693

24,315,619

24,415,756

HUF 75

HUF 356

The average number of ordinary shares was determined based on the weighted mathematical average
method. Employee shares were also considered in the calculation as employees are entitled to dividends.
According to management, diluted EPS is the same as undiluted EPS as the Company does not hold ordinary
shares or purchase options.

30.

CORPORATE TAX

In 2001 and 2002, the normal corporate profit tax rate was 18%, but TVK Rt. is entitled to tax holiday of 97.13%
in 2002 and 100% in 2001 respectively as explained below.
In 2000, TVK Rt. commissioned a significant production machinery that cost over HUF 10 billion. In 2001, TVK
Rt. enjoyed a 100% tax holiday in view of the significance of the capital project and the fact that the Company
met the relevant requirements of the corporate tax act.
According to the subsection 21(7) and (9) of the corporate tax act, the Company, in 2002 was entitled to a
tax holiday of 90.4% of its sales on the ground that production equipment worth over HUF 3 billion was commissioned in 2001.
The Company enjoyed further tax holiday due upon commissioning production equipment worth over HUF
1 billion based on subsection 21(1) of the corporate tax act. The tax holiday was first used by the Company in
2000, based on the production equipment commissioned in 1999. This tax holiday can be used for 5 years after
the completion of the project provided that sales continue to grow (statutory criterion). The last year when the
tax holiday is 2002. Overall, the total of tax holidays enjoyed by the Company in 2002 was 97.13%.
TVK examined the conditions that would make the Company eligible for tax holiday based on the values of
assets purchased in 1999 that fell in the category of assets used for production purposes. To address uncertainties in the interpretation of the law, the Company requested guidance from the authorities at the end of 2000.
As the answers were both inconsistent and unfavourable to the Company, management decided to present
take a prudent approach and consider a 50% tax holiday in the 2000 financial statements and paid the relevant
taxes accordingly. However, certain authorities agree with the Company that fulfilment of the requirements for
a 100% tax holiday can also be evidenced. As a result, in its corporate tax assessment, the Company considered
a 100% tax holiday. The Hungarian Tax Authority (APEH) will carry out a full tax audit in 2002 for the years 1998
to 2000. As gains from a possible reduction of the tax rate are uncertain, such gains have not been disclosed in
the financial statements.
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Deferred tax: According to the provisions of the corporate tax act effective from 2002, the Company will be
entitled to additional tax holidays only on capital projects started before the EU accession treaty act becomes
effective. According to the corporate tax act, the last day of gaining eligibility for a tax holiday is the end of
2002. One of the main criteria is increasing the company’s number of staff (compared to the average number
of employees in the year prior to the inception of the project – i.e. 2001) from the second year after the start
of the project.
One of the Company’s most important future aims is to focus on increasing efficiency. Owing to changes in
applicable legislation, management revised tax holiday forecasts based on major capital projects until 2011 as
the required increase in the number of employees is unlikely to be achieved. Based on the revised forecast,
100% tax holiday requirements can be met for only three years. In view of the above factors, HUF 87 million of
deferred tax liability has been disclosed in the accompanying financial statements.
TVK Group’s tax liability for 2002 and 2001:
2002

2001

Corporate tax liability in the reporting year

123

108

Deferred corporate tax

587

0

Tax liability

710

108

The deferred tax liability consisted of the following items as of 31 December 2002:
2002
Depreciation

1,476

Environmental provision

(489)

Recognised impairment loss

(457)

Differences due to capitalisation according to IFRS
Total deferred tax liability

57
587

Reconciliation of TVK Group’s actual corporate tax liability and that expected based on its accounting profit:
2002
90

Pre-tax profit
Tax liability based on a 18% tax rate
Tax holiday based on capital projects

2,529
455
(112)

Changes in assumptions regarding tax rates

367

Total

710
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31.

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE GROUP’S HAS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND IFRS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s profits for the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2001 under HAS and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) were adjusted by the following items:
31 December
2002
Net profit before dividends per TVK Rt’s standalone Hungarian statutory
financial statements

31 December
2001

3,619

12,407

Recognition/Reversal of impairment loss of slow moving inventories

538

(6)

Revaluation of subsidiaries

156

(90)

Disposal of Ecocenter Kft.

68

0

Disposal of TVK Remat Kft.

12

0

Adjustment to interest cost related to construction loan

(122)

0

Non-realised accrued bonus

(139)

(896)

Disposal of Plastico S.A.

(181)

0

Deferred tax

(587)

0

Accounting for finance leases *

(604)

(604)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains/losses

(872)

1,053

Recognition of the gain on the disposal of Amerwind B.V.

0

(4,276)

Environmental provision

0

1,254

15

(77)

1,903

8,765

(84)

(72)

1,819

8,693

Adjustments:

Other
Profit before minority interest
Minority interest
After-tax profit per accompanying IFRS financial statements

* Finance leases entered into before 1 January 1997 are accounted for as operational leases under the Hungarian accounting law.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign exchange and commodity price risks
The prices of the most important raw materials and those of olefin and polymer products produced by TVK
Rt. fluctuate according to prices on the international market. Sales are significantly affected by the EUR/HUF
exchange rate, while purchases are primarily USD based. In order to mitigate foreign exchange risks, TVK Rt.
made a limited number of forward contracts. However, no swap, option or other derivative contract was made.
The loan granted to the Company has been denominated in EUR in order to reduce exchange rate risks.
As of 31 December 2002, the Company had EUR 10 million in an open forward contract.

Liquidity and credit risk
Liquidity risks arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their liabilities to the
Company within the normal terms of trade. Credit risk arises from the risk of late payment by the other party.
In order to mitigate these risks, the Company carefully assesses each debtor and the debtor’s ability to repay
its debt regularly. Management is of the opinion that the maximum credit risks approximates the carrying
amounts of the respective assets.

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments held to maturity in the normal course of business are recorded at cost or redemption
amount as appropriate. The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each
class of financial instruments.
Cash and cash equivalents, current investments and other current assets
The net book value of cash and other financial assets approximates the fair value due to the relatively shortterm maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of publicly traded instruments is estimated based
on quoted market prices. In the case of all other instruments for which no quoted market price exists, a reasonable fair value estimate has been calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base
for each investment.
Short-term borrowings, creditors and other current liabilities
The book value of current liabilities approximates the fair value due to the relatively short period of maturity
involved.
92

Long-term borrowings and other payables
The fair values of long-term borrowings and other payables denominated in foreign exchange with variable
interest rates approximate their carrying values.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Corporate registry number: Cg. 05-10-000065
TVK Rt. premises: 3581 Tiszaújváros, TVK Ipartelep, Gyári út
TVK Rt. branch office: 1138 Budapest XIII. kerület, Váci út 169.
Central phone: +36 49/522-222
Central fax: +36 49/521-322
Web-site: www.tvk.hu
Sales
For information on products and sales contact:
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
H-3581 Tiszaújváros, Pf. 20
Phone: +36 49/521-208
Fax: +36 49/522-410
E-mail: polymersales@tvk.hu
Investor Relations
For disclosures to investors, Annual Reports, flash reports, financial figures contact:
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
H-3581 Tiszaújváros, Pf. 20
Phone: +36 49/521-121, 522-377
Fax: +36 49/521-903
E-mail: bki@tvk.hu
Share Registry Office
For information on shares, the administration of shares, keeping the share register contact:
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
H-3581 Tiszaújváros, Pf. 20
Phone: +36 49/522-844
Fax: +36 49/521-266
E-mail: reszvenyiroda@tvk.hu
Secretariat
Tiszai Vegyi Kombinát Rt.
H-3581 Tiszaújváros, Pf. 20
Phone: +36 49/521-701
Fax: +36 49/521-170
E-mail: tvkinfo@tvk.hu
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